
Advocacy Committee  
March 24, 2025 | 4:00 pm – 5:00 pm 

 
 

  
Onsite: 

Greater Portland Transit District 
 114 Valley Street, Conference Room A | Portland, ME 04102 

 
Remote: 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86180686184?pwd=MP8ZxxaowC8EZlPumRMoRUrGC0Kvjt.1 

     Passcode: 411671| Webinar ID: 861 8068 6184 
    Phone: (646) 558-8656| Telephone participants: *9 to raise hand, *6 to unmute 

 
MEETING AGENDA 

 

AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER ACTION or 
INFORMATION 

1. Call Meeting to Order (4:00) Linda Cohen, 
Committee Chair 

N/A 

2. Public Comment (4:00-4:05) 
The Finance Committee welcomes public comment. For items 
NOT listed on this agenda, the chair will recognize speakers at 
this point on the agenda. For items on the agenda, the chair 
will recognize public comment following the staff 
presentation. There is a 3-minute time limit per speaker. 

Linda Cohen, 
Committee Chair 

Information 

3. Meeting Minutes (4:05-4:10) 
Review and approve minutes from the February 27, 2025 
Advocacy Committee Meeting.  

Linda Cohen, 
Committee Chair 

ACTION 

4. Legislative Update (4:10-4:25) 
Staff will review pending and recently passed state and federal 
legislation affecting public transit.  

Glenn Fenton, 
Executive Director 

Information 

5. Public Transit Advisory Council (4:25-4:35) 
Staff will review the role of Maine’s Public Transit Advisory 
Council and how that group’s work advises the MaineDOT 
annual budget. 

Chad Heid, 
Chief 
Transportation 
Officer 

Information 

6. Committee Goal Setting (4:35-4:55) 
Committee will continue to develop goals and priorities for 
the Advocacy Committee to be included in Metro’s strategic 
plan and advise the committee’s workplan. 

Glenn Fenton, 
Executive Director 

Discussion 

  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86180686184?pwd=MP8ZxxaowC8EZlPumRMoRUrGC0Kvjt.1


 
 

2 
 

7. Future Agenda Items (4:55-5:00) 
Committee members may request future agenda items.   
• Legislative Update  
• Federal Initiatives Affecting Transit 
• Recruitment of Director of Govt. Affairs/Com. Engagement 
• Bus Rapid Transit 
• Goal Setting/Workplan Development (Strategic Plan) 

Linda Cohen, 
Committee Chair 

Information 

8.  Upcoming Meetings (4:55-5:00) 
• Finance Committee – April 2, 2025 at 4:00 pm 
• Market/Coms Committee – April 9, 2025 at 3:00 pm 
• Plan/Ops Committee – April 16, 2025 at 10:30 am 
• Advocacy Committee – April 16, 2025 at 4:30 pm 

(pending) 
• Executive Committee – April 23, 2025 at 3:30 pm 

Linda Cohen, 
Committee Chair 

Information 

9. Adjournment (5:00) Linda Cohen, 
Committee Chair 

ACTION 

 
As of November 9, 2022 Greater Portland METRO is holding meetings of the Board of Directors (and its 
committees) in hybrid format, both in person at METRO’s offices and via webinar. The remote portions of all 
meetings are conducted in accordance with the requirements of METRO’s Remote Participation Policy (adopted 
August 25, 2022) as well as LD 1772, PL 2022 Ch. 666, and 1 MRSA Chapter 13, Subchapter 1. 
 
 

https://gpmetro.org/DocumentCenter/View/1424


 

 
Greater Portland Metro Advocacy Committee 

Thursday, February 27, 2025: 
DRAFT Meeting Minutes: 

Member Municipality Role Status 
Linda Cohen South Portland Chair Present 
David Morse Westbrook Vice Chair Present 
Anna Bullett Portland Committee Member Present 
Seven Siegel Gorham Committee Member Absent 
Hope Cahan Falmouth Exec Committee Liaison Present 

  
Staff Present  Identified Members of the Public 

Glenn Fenton – Executive Director  
  
  
  

 
I. With a Quorum in place, this meeting was called to Order By: Linda Cohen at 5:03 pm 

 
II. Public Comment:  

No members of the public present 
 
III. Committee Goal Setting:  

The committee discussed goals and strategic priorities of the newly formed Advocacy 
Committee. Possible goals included; monitoring proposed legislation, building support for 
Metro, increasing Metro’s recognition as an essential service with various stakeholders. 
 

IV. Suggested Committee Items:  
Glenn Fenton introduced the following topics for future review by the Advocacy Committee: 

• State Legislative Review 
• Federal Legislative Review 
• Association and & Organization Membership Alignment with Metro’s Goals 
• Bus Rapid Transit (Building Support) 
• Building Ridership 
• Advocating for Additional Funding 

 
V. Future Agenda Items:  

• Legislative Update (State) 



 

• Federal Initiatives Affecting Transit 
• Recruitment of Director of Govt. Affairs/Com. Engagement 
• Bus Rapid Transit 
• Goal Setting/Workplan Development 

 
VI. Upcoming Meetings:  

• Finance Committee – March 5, 2025 at 4:00 pm 
• Marketing/Coms Committee – March 12, 2025 at 3:00 pm 
• Plan/Ops Committee – March 19, 2025 at 10:30 am 
• Advocacy Committee – March 19, 2025 at 4:30 pm 
• Executive Committee – March 26, 2025 at 3:30 pm 

 
VII. Adjournment: Meeting is adjourned by mutual consent at 5:42 pm.  



 

ADVOCACY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 4 
 

 

 
DATE  
March 24, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
Legislative Update 
 
PURPOSE 
Review future, pending or recently passed legislation that could impact Metro’s operations. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
 
Maine Legislative Update 
The Maine Transit Association (MTA) contracts with the law firm of Eaton Peabody to monitor 
legislation and lobby on behalf of the association with Maine lawmakers for and against bills that 
affect member transit agencies. As a member of the MTA Metro receives regular updates on the 
status of bills being considered. 
 
Currently, there are 21 bills under consideration that either directly affect transit agencies or 
could indirectly affect MTA members. Attachment 1 lists each bill and provides a summary of its 
intent. 
 
Bills to note: 
LD 287 – Act to require and encourage safe and interconnected transportation construction 
projects. This act would require MaineDOT to identify locations that do not have complete 
sidewalk or shared-use paths that meet the ADA and consult with municipalities address these 
issues. The bill requires MaineDOT to prioritize funding to provide street access for all 
transportation users. 
 
LD 275 – Emergency Bill to fund MaineDOT through June 30, 2025. Bill passed Transportation 
Committee review on March 11, 2025. 
 
Federal Legislative Update 
Similarly, the American Public Transportation Association (APTA) provides update on federal 
legislation that could impact public transit agencies. APTA provided this update regarding a 
continuing resolution to appropriate funding to public transit:  
 

 
Congress Passes Transportation (THUD) Appropriations Bill 

Provides $20.9 billion for Public Transit and $16.2 billion for Passenger Rail 

 



 
 

2 
 

Today, before the funding deadline at midnight, the Senate passed H.R. 1968, the “Full-Year 
Continuing Appropriations and Extensions Act, 2025” to avoid a shutdown and fund the 
government for the remainder of the fiscal year. The bill previously passed in the House by a 
vote of 217-213. President Trump supports this legislation and is expected to sign it quickly. 

In general, the full-year Continuing Resolution (CR) funds government programs, including 
programs of the Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies 
(THUD) Appropriations Act, through September 30 at the same levels as Fiscal Year (FY) 2024. 

The CR, together with Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) advance appropriations, 
provides $20.9 billion for public transit and $16.2 billion for passenger rail in FY 2025. Under 
the bill, total public transit investment increases less than one percent and total passenger rail 
funding decreases less than one percent. The bill eliminates all funding that was designated for 
earmarks in the FY 2024 THUD Appropriations Act. 

Public Transit 

The CR, together with IIJA advance appropriations, provides $20.9 billion for public transit in FY 
2025, an increase of $82 million (0.4 percent) from the FY 2024 enacted level. This total funding 
represents 95 percent of the amount authorized in the IIJA. 

The CR includes a special provision to allow public transit formula and competitive grant funding 
(i.e., contract authority funded by the Mass Transit Account of the Highway Trust Fund) to 
increase by $289 million as provided in the IIJA. 

The bill and IIJA also provide $3.8 billion for Capital Investment Grants (CIG), equal to the FY 
2024 enacted level. Currently, communities are requesting more than $38.7 billion of CIG funds 
in FY 2025 and subsequent years to construct 58 projects in 25 states. View APTA’s CIG Project 
Pipeline Dashboard. 

The bill retains important policy provisions enacted in the FY 2024 THUD Appropriations Act. 
First, it blocks the Rostenkowski Test, preventing a possible across-the-board cut of FY 2025 
transit formula funds to each public transit agency. It also prohibits DOT from impeding or 
hindering a project from advancing or approving a project seeking a CIG Federal share of more 
than 40 percent. Finally, the legislation authorizes projects in the Expedited Project Delivery for 
CIG Pilot Program to be eligible for funding under the CIG program without further evaluation or 
rating. 

View APTA’s Public Transit Funding Table for FY 2025. 

  

https://www.congress.gov/119/bills/hr1968/BILLS-119hr1968eh.pdf
https://www.congress.gov/119/bills/hr1968/BILLS-119hr1968eh.pdf
https://clerk.house.gov/Votes/202570
https://www.apta.com/wp-content/uploads/APTA-CIG-Project-Pipline-Dashboard-03-07-2025.1.pdf
https://www.apta.com/wp-content/uploads/APTA-CIG-Project-Pipline-Dashboard-03-07-2025.1.pdf
https://www.apta.com/wp-content/uploads/FY2025-THUD-Appropriations-CR-Public-Transit-03-14-2025.pdf


 
 

3 
 

 

Passenger Rail 

The CR, together with IIJA advance appropriations, provides $16.2 billion for passenger and 
freight rail in FY 2025, a decrease of $99 million (-0.6 percent) from the FY 2024 enacted level. 
This total funding represents 78 percent of the amount authorized in the IIJA. 

The CR and IIJA provide a total of $16.2 billion for passenger rail investments, including: 

• $7.3 billion for Federal-State Partnership for Intercity Passenger Rail grants; 
• $6.8 billion for Amtrak grants ($4.5 billion for National Network grants and $2.3 billion 

for the Northeast Corridor); 
• $1.1 billion for Consolidated Rail Infrastructure and Safety Improvement (CRISI) grants; 

and 
• $600 million for Railroad Crossing Elimination grants. 

The bill eliminates $99 million that was designated for CRISI grant earmarks in the FY 2024 
THUD Act. 

The CR retains important policy provisions enacted in FY 2024 THUD Appropriations Act, 
including authorizing CRISI grants for commuter railroad projects that implement or sustain 
positive train control systems. It also authorizes CRISI grants for passenger rail planning and 
project development activities (e.g., preliminary engineering). 

Analysis: 
Historically, the PACTS region has received 2-4% increase in federally funding annually. A 0.4% 
increase in federally transit funding nationally is concerning and could be a signal that 
Congressional support for public transit could be shifting. It’s too soon to draw any conclusions, 
but staff at Metro and PACTS should continue to monitor the situation closely.  
 
With federal funding making up more than 40% of Metro’s funding, it is very important that 
federal funding levels are maintained and increased to match inflation. Direct advocacy to 
Maine’s congressional delegation could be advisable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Full apportionment for the PACTS region unknown at this time.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Information only. 
 
CONTACT 
Glenn Fenton 



 
 

4 
 

Executive Director 
207-517-3025 
gfenton@gpmetro.org 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A - Eaton Peabody Legislative Update 
 

mailto:gfenton@gpmetro.org


Maine Transit Association Client Report Fri 3/7 3:33 PM

Priority Bill
Upcoming PH/WS
Recent PH/WS
New Bill

Bills are sorted first by Priority, then Committee, and then bill number.

Bill Title Sponsor Position Committee Meetings Status Synopsis Note
LD 367 (SP 159) An Act To Authorize General Fund 

Bond Issues To Improve Highways, 
Bridges And Nonhighway Modes Of 
Transportation

Bradlee FARRIN of 
Somerset

Monitor APPROPRIATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL 
AFFAIRS

Received by the Secretary of the 
Senate on January 30, 2025 and 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
APPROPRIATIONS AND FINANCIAL 
AFFAIRS pursuant to Joint Rule 308.2 
(1/30)

The funds provided in Part A by this bond issue, put out to 
referendum in November 2025, in the amount of $100,000,000, 
will be used to provide funding for improvements to roads and 
bridges and nonhighway modes of transportation. The funds 
provided in Part B by this bond issue, put out to referendum in 
November 2026, in the amount of $100,000,000, will be used to 
provide funding for improvements to roads and bridges and 
nonhighway modes of transportation. 

LD 263 (HP 166) Resolve, To Provide Rural Nonmedical 
Transportation Services To The Elderly 
And Adults With Disabilities Receiving 
Home And Community Benefits Under 
Mainecare

Daniel SHAGOURY 
of Hallowell

Monitor HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICES

Received by the Clerk of the House on 
January 23, 2025.The Resolve was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
pursuant to Joint Rule 308.2 and 
ordered printed pursuant to Joint Rule 
401. (1/23)

This resolve requires the Department of Health and Human 
Services to develop a pilot project lasting 18 months that 
provides nonmedical transportation services to individuals 
receiving services pursuant to rule Chapter 101: MaineCare 
Benefits Manual, Chapter II, Section 19, Home and Community 
Benefits for the Elderly and Adults with Disabilities, in an amount 
up to $2,000, in addition to currently permissible medical 
transportation services. The department is required to submit a 
report regardin...

LD 287 (HP 187) An Act To Require And Encourage Safe 
And Interconnected Transportation 
Construction Projects

Adam LEE of Auburn Monitor HOUSING AND 
ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on HOUSING AND 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT.In 
concurrence. ORDERED SENT 
FORTHWITH. (2/4)

This bill establishes requirements for the safety and 
interconnectivity of state-financed transportation construction 
projects, including: 1. Requiring a transportation project, the 
design of which commences on or after January 1, 2026 and the 
cost of which is $500,000 or more, to: A. Perform certain duties, 
including identifying locations on state highways and state aid 
highways with a lack of facilities for or designs creating unsafe 
conditions for pedestrians, bicyclists and other users not i...

LD 877 (HP 563) An Act To Require Transportation 
Network Companies To Provide Fair 
Wages To Drivers

Eleanor SATO of 
Gorham

Monitor LABOR The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on LABOR  in concurrence 
(3/4)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill 
would require transportation companies to provide fair wages to 
drivers. 

LD 274 (HP 178) An Act Making Unified Allocations From 
The Highway Fund And Other Funds 
For The Expenditures Of State 
Government And Changing Certain 
Provisions Of The Law Necessary To 
The Proper Operations Of State 
Government For The Fiscal Years 
Ending June 30, 2025, June 30, 2026 
And June 30, 2027

Lydia CRAFTS of 
Newcastle

Monitor TRANSPORTATION 03/11/25 2:00 PM - 
Public Hearing

03/13/25 10:00 AM - 
Work Session

03/14/25 10:00 AM - 
Work Session

The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on TRANSPORTATION  in 
concurrence (1/28)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill, as 
emergency legislation, proposes to make unified allocations for 
the expenditures of State Government from the Highway Fund 
and other funds and change certain provisions of the law 
necessary to the proper operations of State Government for the 
fiscal years ending June 30, 2025, June 30, 2026 and June 30, 
2027, as submitted by the Governor pursuant to the Maine 
Revised Statutes, Title 5. The documents submitted by the 
Governor may...

LD 275 (HP 179) An Act To Make Supplemental 
Allocations From The Highway Fund 
And Other Funds For The Expenditures 
Of State Government And To Change 
Certain Provisions Of The Law 
Necessary To The Proper Operations 
Of State Government For The Fiscal 
Year Ending June 30, 2025

Lydia CRAFTS of 
Newcastle

Monitor TRANSPORTATION 02/27/25 9:00 AM - 
Public Hearing

03/06/25 10:05 AM - 
Work Session

Committee Docket: Voted - OTP-AM 
(3/6)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill, as 
emergency legislation, proposes to make supplemental 
allocations for the expenditures of State Government from the 
Highway Fund and other funds and change certain provisions of 
the law necessary to the proper operations of State Government 
for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025, as submitted by the 
Governor pursuant to the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5. The 
documents submitted by the Governor may be found here: 
https://legislature.maine.gov/12512....

LD 304 (HP 204) An Act Regarding The Department Of 
Transportation

Lydia CRAFTS of 
Newcastle

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Clerk of the House on 
January 30, 2025.The Bill was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed 
pursuant to Joint Rule 401. (1/30)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill 
would amend the laws governing the Department of 
Transportation. 

LD 305 (HP 205) An Act Regarding Transportation In 
Maine

Lydia CRAFTS of 
Newcastle

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Clerk of the House on 
January 30, 2025.The Bill was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed 
pursuant to Joint Rule 401. (1/30)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill 
would amend the laws governing transportation. 

LD 348 (HP 248) Resolve, To Study The Effect Of High-
intensity Headlights On Drivers

Richard CAMPBELL 
of Orrington

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Clerk of the House on 
January 30, 2025.The Resolve was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed 
pursuant to Joint Rule 401. (1/30)

This resolve directs the Department of the Secretary of State, 
Bureau of Motor Vehicles to convene a working group to study 
the effect of high-intensity headlights on drivers. The working 
group is required to submit a report that includes its findings and 
recommendations for presentation to the Joint Standing 
Committee on Transportation, which is authorized to submit 
legislation related to the report to the Second Regular Session of 
the 132nd Legislature. 

LD 394 (SP 180) An Act To Improve Transportation 
Infrastructure In Maine

Timothy NANGLE of 
Cumberland

Monitor TRANSPORTATION The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on TRANSPORTATION.In 
concurrence. ORDERED SENT 
FORTHWITH. (2/4)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill 
proposes to amend the law to improve the State's transportation 
infrastructure. 

***CONFIDENTIAL*** 1

http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096076
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280095962
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096017
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280097130
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280095976
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280095977
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096133
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096135
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096166
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096199


Maine Transit Association Client Report Fri 3/7 3:33 PM

LD 433 (HP 287) An Act Relating To Requirements For 
School Bus Drivers

Gary DRINKWATER 
of Milford

Monitor TRANSPORTATION The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on TRANSPORTATION  in 
concurrence (2/4)

This bill clarifies the law governing school bus operator 
endorsements. It provides that the endorsement is contingent on 
the applicant meeting certain federal requirements only if there is 
no waiver of those requirements in place. It also clarifies that the 
requirement that the applicant pass an examination of the 
person's ability to operate a vehicle of comparable type to a 
school bus does not include an ability to operate a combination 
vehicle consisting of a truck tractor and semitrailer. Th...

LD 446 (HP 300) An Act Regarding Driver Education Tiffany ROBERTS of 
South Berwick

Monitor TRANSPORTATION The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on TRANSPORTATION  in 
concurrence (2/4)

This bill is a concept draft pursuant to Joint Rule 208. This bill 
proposes to enact measures regarding driver education. 

LD 447 (HP 301) An Act To Expand Ferry Service To 
Matinicus Isle

Valli GEIGER of 
Rockland

Monitor TRANSPORTATION The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on TRANSPORTATION  in 
concurrence (2/4)

This bill amends the law regulating state ferry service to 
Matinicus Isle to require at least 36 trips per year, with additional 
service authorized as agreed upon by the residents of Matinicus 
Isle and the Department of Transportation. 

LD 472 (SP 212) Resolve, Directing The Maine-canadian 
Legislative Advisory Commission And 
The New England And Eastern Canada 
Legislative Commission To Examine 
Restoring Passenger Rail From Boston 
To Montreal

Margaret ROTUNDO 
of Androscoggin

Monitor TRANSPORTATION 03/06/25 10:00 AM - 
Public Hearing

Received by the Secretary of the 
Senate on February 5, 2025 and 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 (2/11)

This resolve directs the Maine-Canadian Legislative Advisory 
Commission and the New England and Eastern Canada 
Legislative Commission to examine restoring passenger rail from 
Boston, Massachusetts to Montreal, Quebec, Canada. The 
commissions are directed to submit a report with their findings to 
the Joint Standing Committee on Transportation by December 3, 
2025. 

TRA WS 3/6/25 - OTPA

LD 511 (SP 229) Resolve, To Direct The Department Of 
Transportation To Implement The 
Recommendations Of The Portland To 
Auburn Rail Use Advisory Council

Jill DUSON of 
Cumberland

Monitor TRANSPORTATION 03/04/25 1:00 PM - 
Public Hearing

Received by the Secretary of the 
Senate on February 7, 2025 and 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 (2/7)

This resolve directs the Department of Transportation, subject to 
available funding resources, permitting and municipal 
agreements, to remove state-owned inactive existing railroad 
track along the section known as the Berlin Subdivision between 
the City of Portland and the City of Auburn and to replace the 
track with an interim bicycle and pedestrian trail surfaced with 
pavement or gravel or stone dust on the existing rail bed. 

LD 566 (SP 246) An Act To Modernize The Motor Vehicle 
Inspection Program And Amend The 
Law Governing Inspection Fees

Bradlee FARRIN of 
Somerset

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Secretary of the 
Senate on February 19, 2025 and 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 (2/19)

This bill authorizes the Chief of the State Police to require the 
use of an electronic inspection program for the purpose of 
performing motor vehicle inspections. It also authorizes an 
inspection station to charge a $20 fee for inspection regardless of 
the model year of the inspected vehicle and provides that an 
operator of an official school bus inspection station is entitled to a 
fee of $20 for each school bus inspected. 

LD 622 (HP 390) An Act To Implement A Surcharge On 
Electric Vehicle Registration

Allison HEPLER of 
Woolwich

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Clerk of the House on 
February 20, 2025.The Bill was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed 
pursuant to Joint Rule 401. (2/20)

This bill directs the Secretary of State to require the owner of an 
electric vehicle to pay an electric vehicle registration surcharge of 
$250 per year. The money collected from the surcharge must be 
transmitted to the Treasurer of State to be credited to the 
Highway Fund. 

LD 661 (HP 429) An Act To Amend Motor Vehicle 
Inspection Requirements

Amy ROEDER of 
Bangor

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Clerk of the House on 
February 20, 2025.The Bill was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed 
pursuant to Joint Rule 401. (2/20)

This bill provides that a new motor vehicle that a holder of a 
Class C license is authorized to operate is not required to have 
an inspection until 3 years from the last day of the month in which 
it was manufactured. The bill stipulates that a new motor vehicle 
purchased by a holder of a Class C license is required to be 
inspected if parts of the motor vehicle required to be inspected 
are damaged in a motor vehicle collision or natural disaster or if 
the ownership of the motor vehicle changes. 

LD 667 (HP 435) An Act To Modernize The State Motor 
Vehicle Inspection Program And The 
Law Governing Inspection Fees

Wayne PARRY of 
Arundel

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Received by the Clerk of the House on 
February 20, 2025.The Bill was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed 
pursuant to Joint Rule 401. (2/20)

This bill authorizes the Chief of the State Police to require the 
use of an electronic inspection program for the purpose of 
performing motor vehicle inspections and to exempt from this 
requirement an inspection station that demonstrates economic 
hardship as a result of using an electronic inspection program. It 
also authorizes an inspection station to charge a fee not more 
than 2 1/2 times the State's minimum wage for inspection 
regardless of the model year of the inspected vehicle and 
provides that...

LD 821 (HP 528) An Act To Make Allocations From 
Maine Turnpike Authority Funds For 
The Maine Turnpike Authority For The 
Calendar Year Ending December 31, 
2026

Monitor TRANSPORTATION Reported by Representative CRAFTS 
for the Maine Turnpike Authority 
pursuant to the Maine Revised Statutes, 
Title 23, section 1961, subsection 
6.Received by the Clerk of the House 
on February 27, 2025.The Bill was 
REFERRED to the Committee on 
TRANSPORTATION pursuant to Joint 
Rule 308.2 and ordered printed. (2/27)

This bill makes allocations from gross revenues of the Maine 
Turnpike Authority for the payment of the authority’s operating 
expenses for the calendar year ending December 31, 2026 in 
accordance with the requirements of the Maine Revised Statutes, 
Title 23, section 1961, subsection 6. 

LD 850 (HP 536) An Act To Amend The Motor Vehicle 
Laws

Lydia CRAFTS of 
Newcastle

Monitor TRANSPORTATION The Bill was REFERRED to the 
Committee on TRANSPORTATION  in 
concurrence (3/4)

This bill allows the Secretary of State to adopt rules to administer 
self-service kiosks for vehicle registration renewals and driver's 
license and nondriver identification card renewals and 
replacements. It imposes a $1.00 fee on electronic lien titling 
transactions. The bill clarifies that the process to dispose of 
vehicle parts is in the same manner as for the entire vehicle. It 
clarifies that impounded vehicles and vehicle parts are the 
property of the Secretary of State. It requires an owne...

***CONFIDENTIAL*** 2

http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096282
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096293
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096295
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096338
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096413
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096570
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096692
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096731
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280096737
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280097021
http://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/summary.asp?ID=280097122


 

ADVOCACY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 5 
 

 

 
DATE  
March 24, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
Public Transit Advisory Council 
 
PURPOSE 
Staff will review the role of Maine’s Public Transit Advisory Council and how that group’s work 
advises the MaineDOT annual budget. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
The Maine Public Transit Advisory Council (PTAC) is structured to provide advisory input to 
Maine's Departments of Transportation, Labor, and Health and Human Services on public 
transportation policies and priorities. Recent revisions to Maine’s state statute have refined the 
PTAC's composition and charges, emphasizing the need for diverse representation and 
comprehensive evaluation of the state's transit needs. Members, appointed by the 
Commissioner of Transportation, include representatives from the Joint Standing Committee on 
Transportation, ensuring a direct link to legislative considerations. The Chair of the 2024-25 PTAC 
is Metro’s CTO, Chad Heid.  The PTAC's role is to act as a vital bridge between the public, transit 
providers, and state agencies, fostering a collaborative approach to prioritizing Maine's 
transportation needs. 
 
The 2025 PTAC report highlights significant challenges and recommendations, particularly 
concerning funding and service expansion. The council's work involved extensive reviews of state 
and regional plans, assessments of transit operator funding requests, and examinations of 
relevant reports on transportation services and unmet needs. Notably, the report underscores 
the substantial capital expenses required by local transit providers, with projections exceeding 
$108 million between 2024 and 2028. A key finding, reinforced by an independent report from 
the John T. Gorman Foundation, is the pervasive transportation insecurity affecting vulnerable 
populations, including low-income individuals, older Mainers, and those with disabilities. 
 
A core theme of the report is the persistent gap between existing transit services and the actual 
needs of Maine residents. Data indicates that thousands of Maine households lack vehicle access, 
and many workers face transportation barriers that hinder their employment opportunities. The 
report emphasizes the necessity for increased investment in workforce development, fleet 
expansion, and technological upgrades to enhance service reliability and coordination. However, 
there is a realistic understanding that due to current political climates, and budget constraints, 
that many of the recommendations within the report are unlikely to be advanced, or fully 
supported, by the 2025 Maine state legislature. 

 



 
 

2 
 

 
Despite the anticipated legislative hurdles, the PTAC's role remains invaluable. It provides a 
critical platform for identifying and articulating the transportation needs of Maine's diverse 
communities. Even if immediate legislative action is limited, the council's work serves to 
document these needs, inform future policy discussions, and maintain a focus on improving 
public transit access throughout the state. The PTAC functions as a vital advocate for those who 
rely on public transportation, and ideally functions to support policy outcomes that lead to 
increasing State investment in public transportation. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
No direct impacts.  Although lack of support for the PTAC funding recommendations continues 
to be a barrier to Metro increasing the level of financial support it receives from MaineDOT. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Information only 
 
CONTACT 
Chad Heid 
Chief Transportation Officer 
207-517-3029 
cheid@gpmetro.org 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
2025 PTAC Report 
 

mailto:cheid@gpmetro.org


 
 

 

 

  

PUBLIC TRANSIT 

ADVISORY COUNCIL 
 

 
BIENNIAL REPORT TO GOVERNOR AND LEGISLATURE 

February 2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

2  

I.   BACKGROUND AND STATUTORY REPORTING REQUIREMENT 
 
The Public Transit Advisory Council (PTAC or Council) is a voluntary board established in statute to 
advise the State Legislature and the Maine Department of Transportation (MaineDOT) on public transit 
services in the state.  Council members are appointed by the MaineDOT Commissioner and represent a 
broad range of perspectives.  The Council is administered by MaineDOT. 

Excerpt from Public Transit Advisory Council Statute 23 MRSA 4209-A:   

5.  Report.  The council shall report on its deliberations and any recommendations by March 1st of 
each odd-numbered year to the Governor and the joint standing committees of the Legislature 
having jurisdiction over transportation matters and health and human services matters.  The report 
must include: 

A. An assessment of the level of public transportation services and infrastructure provided to 
the public in each geographic region; 

B. Recommendations for the level of service and supporting infrastructure that should be 
provided, an estimate of the cost of providing those services and supporting infrastructure 
and a recommendation for any necessary additional funding; and 

C. A progress report on the implementation of the most recent statewide strategic transit plan 
for the department as well as the quinquennial locally coordinated plan for regional transit 
under section 4209, subsection 2. 

 
II.  SUMMARY OF DELIBERATIONS 
 
The PTAC is comprised of 29 members offering diverse perspectives on Maine’s urban and rural transit 
needs (see Appendix A). The Council is charged with advising the Departments of Transportation, Labor, 
and Health and Human Services on matters related to public transportation. The Council meets at the 
call of the chair no less than three times per year, meeting six times in 2024 (on February 29, April 22, 
June 12, August 14, October 9, and December 11) and three times to date in 2025 (on January 8, 
February 12, and February 19).  The Council heard presentations from all transit regions in Maine, 
including a description of existing services and an assessment of challenges and needs.  The Council also 
developed a committee structure with the idea that separate working groups would advance the 
process of evaluating existing conditions, assessing plans and investments, and developing 
recommendations to be compiled in the final report.  Committees are made up of volunteer Council 
members and include a chair.  The committees include:   
 

• The Steering Committee, to provide guidance and direction to the PTAC and committees on goals, 
objectives, and schedules of work product, and act as the primary administrative unit of the PTAC; 

• The State of Transit Committee, to review and document the current transportation systems and 
networks by region, to identify gaps or areas that need attention for improvement and/or 
investment, and/or to recognize satisfactory current conditions; 

• The Research and Policy Committee, to identify, monitor, study, and report on transportation 
policies and considerations that are established and successful elsewhere, and may be viable for 
implementation in Maine; and 

• The Mobility Alternatives Committee, to evaluate and propose recommendations for mobility 
options that are inside and outside of the network of publicly funded transportation services, that 
may address first/last mile needs, or that may be in a community with little or no public 



 

3  

transportation, using a total systems approach. 
 
A survey of members on areas of concern and priorities informed Council discussions and decisions.   
 
All meeting materials, including the regional presentations and minutes, are available at 
www.maine.gov/mdot/transit/ptac. 

 
III.   NEEDS ASSESSMENT/UNMET TRANSPORTATION NEEDS 
 
As stated in prior PTAC Biennial reports, it is difficult to precisely pinpoint unmet transportation needs. 
The 2024-25 Council considered multiple approaches to review and document the needs of the state 
and its community members, including: 
 

• A review of the most up to date state and regional plans; 

• A compilation of funding requests and considerations provided by transit operators; and 

• A summation of relevant reports on transportation services and unmet need in the state 

 

The Maine State Transit Plan, along with the other modal plans in MaineDOT’s Family of Plans, was 
finalized in March 2023.  The plan’s assessment of existing conditions describes the current 
transportation network.  The full report is available on the MaineDOT website at 
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/27763afe326645c285cb1d726ee68cae 

Data submitted by the local transit providers shows a need for over $108,000,000 from 2024 to 2028 in 
capital expenses, including fleet replacements, facilities upgrades, and other critical investments. Table 1 
presents the capital project needs of local transit operators from 2024 to 2028, over the five-year 
period, with the highest need in 2025 ($40,026,924) and the lowest in 2028 ($5,436,322). 

 

An independent report released by the John T. Gorman Foundation in January 2025 (Appendix B) 
highlights significant transportation challenges in Maine, particularly affecting low-income and 
marginalized communities.   The report provides an update on the unmet transportation needs in 
Maine, using a similar methodology as the 2019 PTAC report.  The table below summarizes the 
transportation need as of 2022, the last reporting year of available data required to quantify the metric.  

 

 

http://www.maine.gov/mdot/transit/ptac
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/27763afe326645c285cb1d726ee68cae


 

4  

Key findings from the report include: 

• Households Without Vehicles: Approximately 40,000 Maine households lack reliable access to a 
vehicle. This includes about 15,000 employed workers without a vehicle and an additional 52,000 
individuals living in households where the number of workers exceeds the number of vehicles.  

• Transportation Costs: Basic transportation expenses for most Maine households exceed $1,000 per 
month, surpassing costs for necessities like food and housing for many families.  

• Public Transportation Services: Current public transit programs meet only about 11% of Maine's 
total transportation need, providing 3 million out of 28 million trips per year. Approximately 3,000 
Mainers regularly commute using public transportation, with one in four spending 60 minutes or 
more on their one-way journey to work.  

• Driver's License Access: Nearly 90,000 Maine adults (ages 18 and older) do not hold a driver's 
license. This group includes over 15,000 individuals in their 20s, a critical age for accessing education 
and employment opportunities. Barriers such as the high cost of driver's education and lack of 
vehicle access for required practice driving contribute to this issue.  

These transportation barriers disproportionately impact marginalized populations, including low-income 
households, rural residents, and communities of color. This is confirmed by the Moving Maine Network’s 
2024 report on transportation barriers, which found that 3 in 5 Maine adults experience transportation 
insecurity (see Appendix C).  Young people, older Mainers, the disability community, and historically 
marginalized populations are far more likely to experience transportation insecurity.  The lack of reliable 
transportation restricts access to essential services such as employment, education, healthcare, and 
social support, exacerbating existing inequalities and hindering economic mobility.  According to fall 
2024 data from the U.S. Census Bureau’s Household Pulse Survey, about 10,500 Mainers are 
unemployed due to a lack of transportation. 

Addressing these challenges requires targeted investments in public transportation infrastructure, 
support for low-income communities, and policies that reduce transportation costs to ensure equitable 
access for all Maine residents. 

IV.   SUMMARY OF CURRENT SERVICES, CHALLENGES, AND FUNDING 
 
Maine's public transportation system is diverse and evolving, with investments aimed at providing 
consistent service levels, stabilizing the workforce, and maintaining fleets in good states of repair.  
During the course of the PTAC engagements, regional operators had an opportunity to report on current 
conditions and funding, successes, opportunities and challenges.  While there are many positive 
advancements occurring across the state, there are considerable challenges.  While each transportation 
provider is unique, there are common themes from across the state representing transportation 
challenges.  Examples include: 

 

• Funding shortfalls; 

• Workforce shortages; and 

• Difficulty in funding or obtaining vehicles 

 

Region 1 – Aroostook County and Surrounding Towns                                                                            
Aroostook Regional Transportation Systems (ARTS) provides vital transportation services to the largely 
rural Region 1 communities of Aroostook County, as well as parts of northern Washington and 



 

5  

Penobscot counties. Covering a vast area of approximately 6,600 square miles, ARTS ensures mobility 
for residents who often live significant distances from essential services. The organization offers 
demand-response transportation, medical appointment and cancer care transport, veteran services, and 
a workforce pilot program. Additionally, it provides limited public transportation, operating on 
Saturdays in Presque Isle, and serves each community in its region at least once or twice per week. 

Opportunities for ARTS include expanding workforce transportation and providing Head Start 
transportation. There is also potential to bridge gaps in non-emergency health care transport, enhance 
municipal school bus services, and develop partnerships with tribal communities.  

Challenges and Obstacles: 
ARTS faces notable challenges, including the difficulties of servicing a sparsely populated and 
geographically vast region where 40% of residents live more than five miles from a grocery store and 
24% are over 20 miles from the nearest hospital. A significant portion of the population finds accessing 
alternative transportation difficult, underscoring the ongoing demand for ARTS services. 

Funding Considerations:                                                                                                                                      
Financial support for ARTS comes from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), MaineDOT, the 
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), Modivcare, and local contracts. Most vehicles have 
been purchased through federal funding with local matching contributions, while some have been 
obtained entirely through local funding. Ensuring sustainable funding and investment in infrastructure, 
such as vehicle acquisition and maintenance, is critical to maintaining and expanding services to meet 
regional transportation needs. 

Region 2 – Downeast Community Partners 

Did not provide a presentation 

 

Region 3 – Penobscot and Piscataquis Counties 

Region 3 providers offer a mix of fixed route, demand-response, and paratransit services across 
Penobscot and Piscataquis Counties. Key providers include Community Connector, Penquis, West’s 
Transportation, and regional connections to Downeast Transportation. The transit network ensures at 
least one scheduled stop per town weekly, with additional demand-based services funded separately. 
Despite significant ridership (over 330,000 trips completed annually), there is potential for expansion, 
particularly in rural and border areas. The region is working on increasing service hours, fleet capacity, 
and technology improvements to meet evolving transportation demands. 

Challenges and Obstacles: 
The region faces several challenges, notably driver shortages, lack of funding for new vehicles, and 
limited availability of child transportation services. Night and weekend transit options remain scarce due 
to workforce constraints. Coordination among transit providers and agencies like MaineDOT and DHHS 
is inconsistent, leading to inefficiencies. Vehicle procurement delays and insufficient funding for fleet 
expansion further complicate service reliability and expansion efforts. 

Funding Considerations: 
The total cost of service in the region was approximately $15.2 million in the last National Transit 
Database (NTD) report year (2023), including a combination of MaineCare ($12.4 million), federal ($1.8 
million), and state and local sources ($423,000). While there has been some increase in funding, the 



 

6  

region remains focused on maintaining current services rather than building reserves for long-term 
sustainability. Additional investments are needed for workforce development, fleet expansion, and 
technological upgrades like mobile fare payment and improved coordination with rural providers. 

Region 4 – Kennebec and Somerset Counties 

Kennebec Valley Community Action Program (KVCAP) is the designated public transportation provider 
for Region 4, serving a predominantly rural area. Until December 21, 2023, KVCAP operated the 
Kennebec Explorer and Somerset Explorer flex-route services, connecting numerous communities. 
However, rising operational costs and stagnant funding, exacerbated by the depletion of pandemic relief 
funds (used from 2020-2023) and staffing shortages, necessitated a service restructuring.  Effective 
January 1, 2024, KVCAP transitioned to a demand-response model using existing KV Van operations. This 
change was driven by cost and staffing constraints, as well as rider feedback favoring the personalized 
service experienced during the pandemic. The new service offers curb-to-curb/door-to-door 
transportation with next-day scheduling. This adaptation aims to serve larger population centers within 
three designated zones: Augusta, Waterville/Fairfield/Winslow, and Skowhegan, while maintaining 
intercity service between Augusta and Waterville. 

 

Challenges and Obstacles:                                                                                                                                       
The 2024 service transition aimed to expand demand-response service to smaller rural communities, 
connecting them to larger centers with essential services and medical care. KVCAP's plan to explore 
fixed-route services in larger population areas, offering shorter headways and greater convenience, has 
been delayed due to uncertainty surrounding the brokerage contract. While the agency envisions a 
system combining fixed routes and demand-response, current local match requirements and the lack of 
sustained additional funding impede progress. Despite these obstacles, KVCAP continues to seek 
innovative funding solutions to maintain and expand vital transportation services, remaining committed 
to addressing regional transportation gaps and ensuring mobility for residents. 

Funding Considerations:                                                                                                                                  
Securing the required 40-50% local match for state and federal transportation grants remains a 
significant challenge. Limited tax bases in many Kennebec and Somerset County municipalities make 
local fundraising difficult. These local contributions are essential for KVCAP to access crucial FTA grants, 
including the FTA 5311 (rural areas) and 5339 (bus and facilities) programs, which require hundreds of 
thousands of dollars in local support. A recent change in the MaineCare transportation brokerage 
contract also presents potential challenges. 

Region 5 – Northern Cumberland and Sagadahoc Counties                                                                                
Mid-Coast Public Transportation (MCPT) and Western Maine Transportation Services (WMTS) operate 
transit systems in Region 5, covering rural and urban areas with coordinated services. MCPT supports 
Waldo, Knox, Lincoln, and Sagadahoc Counties, as well as Brunswick and Harpswell, while WMTS serves 
Northern Cumberland and Sagadahoc Counties. Both providers leverage federal (FTA 5310, 5311, 5339) 
and state funding, municipal partnerships, and private grants to expand transit access. Key opportunities 
include upgrading scheduling software, implementing General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS, which 
provides real-time information to riders), expanding workforce transit, and constructing a regional 
transit center in Belfast. 

 

Challenges and Obstacles:                                                                                                                            
Sustaining a coordinated rural transit model faces hurdles such as facility losses, potential funding shifts 



 

7  

due to MaineCare procurement decisions, and the need for diversified revenue streams. Driver 
recruitment and training remain critical challenges, along with increasing coordination among local and 
regional operators. For WMTS, challenges also include sustainable local matching funds, vehicle 
availability, and consistent branding. 

 

Funding Considerations:                                                                                                                                     
Annual funding for MCPT is approximately $11.4 million for 237,000 trips, sourced from federal and 
state agencies, municipalities, and private grants. WMTS relies on FTA funds, state support, municipal 
contributions, and business partnerships. Efforts to secure additional funding focus on improving 
passenger amenities, expanding service to evenings and weekends, and revamping routes to enhance 
accessibility. 

Both agencies seek to strengthen partnerships, optimize service structures, and increase engagement in 
workforce transit solutions, ensuring equitable and reliable transportation for the region. 

Region 6 – Cumberland County 

Transit services in Cumberland County are robust, with several providers including Biddeford Saco Old 
Orchard Beach (BSOOB Transit), Greater Portland Metro, and Regional Transportation Program (RTP)  
offering a range of fixed-route, commuter, and paratransit services. Metro, the largest system, is 
planning service expansions such as the Gorham-Westbrook-Portland Rapid Transit project and 
enhancements like microtransit pilots and technology upgrades. Regional collaboration through the 
Portland Area Comprehensive Transportation System (PACTS) supports long-term planning, promoting 
frequent connections, rapid transit, and transit-friendly development. 

Challenges and Obstacles: 
Sustaining and expanding transit services face significant financial and operational challenges. Federal 
funding has not kept pace with rising operational costs, and local municipal budgets are constrained. 
Ridership recovery post-pandemic remains a concern, particularly for fare-dependent services. 
Infrastructure limitations, such as Metro’s near-capacity bus facility and outdated RTP vehicles, further 
complicate service expansion. Transitioning to zero-emission vehicles is another hurdle, given the high 
costs and reliability concerns of battery-electric buses. 

Funding Considerations: 
While state funding has increased, it remains insufficient to fully support operations and expansion. 
Many service improvement pilots are currently funded through the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 
but will lose support after 2025, requiring alternative funding to continue. Capital funding is also 
constrained, impacting investments in transit signal priority, bus stop improvements, and new facilities. 
PACTS initiatives emphasize the need for long-term investment in transit infrastructure and transit-
oriented development to ensure sustainable growth. 

Region 7 – Androscoggin, Franklin, and Northern Oxford Counties                                                          
Region 7, encompassing Androscoggin, Franklin, and Northern Oxford Counties, offers a range of 
transportation services catering to various commuter and seasonal needs. Demand-response services 
operate on weekdays from 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM, supported by funding sources such as FTA 5311 and 
5310 grants, social service contracts, and business sponsorships. These services provided an estimated 
42,055 trips in FY 2024 with a fleet of 12 vehicles and four spares. Fares range from $2.50 to $5.00 
depending on age, disability status, and distance. 



 

8  

Workforce transit solutions have been piloted in Lewiston-Auburn, offering early morning, evening, and 
nighttime transportation for workers beyond the current citylink coverage. This initiative, supported by 
the Maine Jobs and Recovery Plan Workforce Transportation Pilot program and business sponsorships, 
seeks to address employment transportation gaps, with fares set at $3.00 or employer-paid. 

Seasonal services, such as the Sugarloaf Explorer, provide free-fare flex routes catering to ski resorts and 
condo associations. These services operate 15–18 hours per day from late November through mid-April, 
utilizing up to 18 vehicles. The Sugarloaf Explorer recorded 96,704 trips, while the Sugarloaf Express 
accounted for 2,630 trips in FY 2024. Additional commuter routes connect Farmington, Rumford, Lisbon, 
Lewiston-Auburn, and Bath, serving thousands of riders annually with fares ranging from $0.75 to $5.00. 

The cities of Lewiston and Auburn operate a fixed route and complementary ADA paratransit service 
called citylink that provided over 311,000 in FY24.  This fixed route system has ten routes and provides 
service Monday through Saturday, with a reduced schedule on Saturdays.  The system owns two bus 
stations with passenger facilities, one each in Auburn and Lewiston.  These stations are utilized by 
multiple interline providers like WMTS’ Green Line, Blue Line, Lisbon Connection, and MaineDOT’s LAP 
commuter bus that provides service between Lewiston, Auburn, and Portland.  Additionally, the 
Lewiston bus station is an interline point for some daily scheduled service via Greyhound. 

Challenges and Obstacles:                                                                                                                                      
Despite these extensive services, the region faces notable challenges, including sustaining local matching 
funds, staffing shortages, vehicle availability, and ensuring consistent branding and messaging. There is 
also a growing need for additional passenger amenities, expanded evening and weekend service, and 
technological enhancements. Priority projects include integrating Lisbon Connection into the Blue Line 
system and launching evening pilot programs for Oxford Hills and Mount Blue. Addressing these 
challenges requires coordinated efforts among municipalities, businesses, and funding agencies to 
maintain and expand services that meet the evolving needs of the region's residents. 

Funding Considerations:                                                                                                                                       
Citylink is supported by FTA 5307 formula funds and operating assistance provided by MaineDOT.  The 
remaining system costs are split evenly between the cities.  In FY24 each city provided over $468,000 in 
local match to keep the system operational.  

Region 8 – York and Southern Oxford Counties                                                                                                        
Region 8, covering York and Southern Oxford Counties, hosts several public transit providers, including 
BSOOB Transit, Cooperative Alliance for Seacoast Transportation (COAST), North New England 
Passenger Rail Authority (NNEPRA), and York County Community Action Corporation (YCCAC). These 
agencies provide a mix of fixed-route, seasonal, and on-demand services tailored to urban, rural, and 
workforce mobility needs. 

Challenges and Obstacles: 
Opportunities for expansion and service improvement exist, particularly in workforce transportation, 
commuter services, and transit accessibility. Recent grant awards, such as the Innovative Coordinated 
Access and Mobility (ICAM) grant, support coordination efforts and the establishment of a mobility 
network for resource sharing. However, challenges include aging fleets, the need for infrastructure 
enhancements, and post-pandemic ridership recovery, which has only reached about 70% of pre-COVID 
levels. Additionally, some services, such as the Shipyard Commuter Program, require strategic 
deployment to ensure long-term sustainability. 



 

9  

Funding Considerations: 
Transit agencies in the region rely on a combination of federal (FTA 5307, 5311, 5339, and others), state, 
and local funding sources, as well as municipal contributions and private grants. A lack of dedicated 
state funding presents financial constraints, making agencies reliant on grants and municipal support. 
Infrastructure needs, including fleet replacement, new signage, and technology improvements such as 
Computer-Aided Dispatch/Automatic Vehicle Location (CAD/AVL) and real-time passenger information 
systems, require additional investment. The region continues to seek innovative funding mechanisms to 
sustain and expand services while addressing workforce shortages and growing mobility demands. 

Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority                                                                                          
NNEPRA provides intercity passenger rail service with five round trips daily between Brunswick and 
Boston, covering 143 route miles, using three Amtrak train sets, operating at speeds up to 79 mph, 
serving 12 station communities in three states, and carrying approximately 600,000 riders in FY2024.  

NNEPRA has the authority to set fares and establish promotions for Downeaster trains. NNEPRA 
adopted a dynamic fare and revenue management approach based on consumer demand and inflation. 
Modest increases to One-Way Coach value fares, Business Class fares, and Multi-Ride passes were 
implemented. The ability to adjust fares to meet rising costs and changing demand levels allows NNEPRA 
to maximize ridership, stay within budget limitations, meet cost recovery goals, and minimize the impact 
of taxpayer contributions.    

Challenges and Obstacles:                                                                                                                                
NNEPRA has opportunities to expand service to new destinations, such as Rockland, and to increase 
ridership by improving service quality and marketing. NNEPRA also has the opportunity to partner with 
other organizations to improve transportation options for the region.  Challenges include the need for 
funding to maintain and improve infrastructure, equipment, and services. NNEPRA also must balance 
the needs of different stakeholders, including passengers, communities, and host railroads.    

Funding Considerations:                                                                                                                                        
Obstacles include the need for substantial capital investments for infrastructure projects, competition 
from other modes of transportation, and potential disruptions caused by track maintenance or other 
unforeseen circumstances. Funding considerations are crucial for NNEPRA, as it relies on a combination 
of ticket revenue, federal grants, state match funding, and in-kind contributions from partners to 
support operations and capital projects. NNEPRA's funding considerations include the need to secure 
federal, state, and local funding to support operations, maintenance, and capital projects. NNEPRA also 
must ensure that fares are affordable for passengers while generating enough revenue to cover costs. 

Maine State Ferry Service (MSFS) 

By statute, MSFS provides routes from Rockland to Vinalhaven, North Haven, and Matinicus Isle; from 
Lincolnville to Isleboro; and from Bass Harbor to Swan's Island and Frenchboro. These services are vital 
for island communities, ensuring access to the mainland for goods, services, and travel.  

 

Challenges and Obstacles: 

Competition with other employers for the limited pool of qualified mariners is a significant challenge. 
Most MSFS crew positions are fully licensed, and Coast Guard regulations require vessels to be fully 
crewed to sail.  Full-time relief personnel cover the absences of permanent crew members.  MSFS 
employees are deemed essential personnel, with service continuing as weather allows during closures of 



 

10  

Maine State offices.  MSFS is interested in exploring improved transit connections that would enable 
island residents to leave their vehicles behind when traveling to the mainland.  MSFS’ relatively modern 
and reliable fleet is funded though state funds and grants. 

 

Funding Considerations: 

State funds cover half of MSFS operating expenses, with ticket revenues providing for the other half.  
Fares were increased in the past year.   

 

GO MAINE 

GO MAINE is Maine’s statewide travel resource program.  GO MAINE was relaunched in 2022 and is 
administered by consultant AECOM on behalf of MaineDOT and the Maine Turnpike Authority, with 
funding contributions of 75% from MaineDOT and 25% from MTA.  GO MAINE connects members with 
travel options for all destinations in the state, including public transit, carpooling, vanpooling, volunteer 
driver networks, and biking and walking.  GO MAINE focuses on engaging employers, institutions, and 
other organizations that generate a significant number of trips, as well as community partners and 
stakeholders.  It also supports Maine’s Climate Action Plan by targeting a 10% reduction in light-duty 
vehicle miles traveled (VMT) by 2025 and a 20% reduction by 2030. 

 

GO MAINE currently has nearly 12,500 total members, and since its relaunch in 2022, has reduced 
vehicle miles traveled by over 6 million and total trips by nearly 300,000, with 63% of inquiries 
producing a rideshare match.    

Challenges and Obstacles:                                                                                                                                         
GO MAINE provides various mobility solutions, including a co-branded website and app featuring a trip 
planner, environmental impact dashboard, and rewards for users. Additionally, it offers volunteer driver 
program support and employer-focused services such as new hire support, GIS mapping, and 
preferential parking. Opportunities lie in leveraging these tools to enhance commuter engagement, 
reduce carbon emissions, and contribute to state climate goals. 

Funding Considerations:                                                                                                                                           
The program faces obstacles related to maintaining sustainable funding sources and ensuring the 
scalability of its initiatives. The current funding model is heavily reliant on MaineDOT and MTA 
contributions, posing a risk if budget priorities shift. To address this, GO MAINE could explore diversified 
funding streams, including federal grants, private sponsorships, or partnerships with local businesses 
and community organizations. 

V.  MAINE PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION FUNDING SUMMARY 
 
State Fund Source Limitations. Maine has a constitutional provision (see below) preventing the use of 
Highway Fund dollars for other than named infrastructure costs. Therefore, support for public 
transportation and freight facilities/operations (rail, ports) are not allowed. MSFS is considered an 
extension of the highway system to connect roadways on either side. These funds come out of the $9 
million/year in Multimodal Transportation funds raised through the tax on vehicle rental fees. Given the 
lack of other funding sources for Multimodal operations, this fund is overcommitted requiring the need 
to develop new funding needed to support ongoing additional funding for transit (or other modes). 
 

 



 

11  

Article, IX, Section 19 from Maine State Constitution:  
Limitation on expenditure of motor vehicle and motor vehicle fuel revenues. All revenues derived 
from fees, excises and license taxes relating to registration, operation and use of vehicles on 
public highways, and to fuels used for propulsion of such vehicles shall be expended solely for 
cost of administration, statutory refunds and adjustments, payment of debts and liabilities 
incurred in construction and reconstruction of highways and bridges, the cost of construction, 
reconstruction, maintenance and repair of public highways and bridges under the direction and 
supervision of a state department having jurisdiction over such highways and bridges and 
expense for state enforcement of traffic laws and shall not be diverted for any purpose, provided 
that these limitations shall not apply to revenue from an excise tax on motor vehicles imposed in 
lieu of personal property tax. 

 
Federal and State Funding Summary.  
For FY23, the FTA provided the state of Maine $49,427,702, with rough breakdown as follows:  
Federal operating/planning/administration ...........................................$12,000,000  
Federal capital (vehicles, ferries, buildings, equipment, rail)..................$37,427,702 
 
Based on the details reported to the NTD, an arm of the FTA, the State of Maine contributed a total of 
$4,002,446 to assist with the federal match requirements for operating expenses, 2% for 16 local transit 
providers, and 7% towards NNEPRA’s operating expenses.  Additionally, the state contributed 
$6,285,240 towards MSFS, which does not have federal funding, nor a match requirement.  These funds 
are primarily sourced from the state’s Multimodal Transportation Fund (see Table 2).  
 

 
 

The NTD collects and compiles financial, operational, and asset information from public transit agencies 
across the United States.  It gathers data on transit operating funding sources, including federal, state, 
and local government contributions, as well as fare revenues and other income.  The NTD then analyzes 
and reports this data to provide insights into the financial health, funding trends, and performance of 
transit systems nationwide.  Transit operators are required to file annual reports that summarize fiscal 
year information in alignment with the definitions and classifications defined by the NTD.  The most up 
to date information available at the time of this report’s authorship is the fiscal year 2023 filings from 
each transit operator. 

 

 
 



 

12  

State funding for transit operations was $1.14M for several years.  State funding for transit was 
increased by $5M for state fiscal year 2025 ($3M for transit operations and $2M for discretionary 
projects).  The $2M in discretionary awards was awarded to transit providers through a competitive 
application process.  Total funding for state fiscal year 2026 is expected to be $6.14M, with $2M in 
discretionary funds distributed through a similar competitive process and the remainder to transit 
operations.  The Lewiston/Auburn to Portland commuter bus service, a two-year pilot program, is 
supported solely with $1.4M in state funds.   

 

MaineDOT and the Maine Transit Association are exploring a potential new methodology for distributing 
rural funding which incorporates service-related metrics such as ridership, vehicle revenue hours, 
and/or vehicle revenue miles, and also accounts for the impact of adopting any new methodology on 
transit providers and riders. Under the current methodology for distributing operating funds, total 
funding is split essentially in half between the urban regions (which receive 50.1% of total funds) and 
rural regions (which receive 49.9% of total funds).  The rural portion is divided among the eight rural 
regions based on each’s percentage of the state’s total population, public road miles, and land area.  
Each of these is weighted equally and the average of the three determines the region’s share of total 
available funding.  The urban portion is divided between the Metropolitan Planning Organizations, with 
the PACTS region’s funds further divided among the region’s transit providers.   

 
VI.  COMPARISONS WITH OTHER STATES 
 
Using the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Survey of State 
Funding for Public Transportation 2024 Final Report, funding strategies and sources in Maine can be 
compared to other states.  The data in the 2024 report is sourced of state filings to AASHTO 
representing 2022 (See Appendix D for summary tables). 

When evaluating state funding sources compared to other states Maine does not participate in the most 
popular funding methods, such as the State Gas Tax (used by 25 states) or State General Sales Tax (used 
by 19 states). Maine is represented under the following categories: 

• State Bond Proceeds: Maine is one of 9 states using this funding source, making it a less common 
method. 

• State Rental Vehicle Fees and Taxes: Maine is among 7 states using this method, again indicating a 
less common approach. 

Comparing sources of local funding, Maine aligns with the more popular local funding methods, 
particularly Fare Revenue and City/County General Funds. Maine local funding revenues are sourced in 
the following methods: 

• Fare Revenue: Used by 46 states, including Maine, making it the most common method. 
• City/County General Funds: Maine is one of 42 states using this widely adopted method. 
• Advertising: Maine is among 38 states using this source. 
• Service Contracts: Maine participates in this method, used by 35 states. 
• Donations: Maine is one of 30 states utilizing this less common method. 
• Local Property Tax: Maine uses this source, which is adopted by 25 states. 

Lastly, in reviewing and comparing state funding distribution methods Maine utilizes the following: 



 

13  

• Formula Based Method: Maine is among 35 states using this most common approach. 
• Discretionary Based Method: Maine participates in this method, used by 29 states. 
• Other Methods: Maine is one of 8 states utilizing a less common, unspecified method. 

VII.  BEST PRACTICES AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS FOR LEVELS OF SERVICE 
 
The characteristics of a quality public transportation system revolve around frequency, convenience, 
reliability, and accessibility. Transit should not only serve commuters but also connect people to 
essential services, integrate smoothly with other forms of transportation, and be easy to use. Through 
these features, the system can build a loyal user base, increase ridership, and contribute significantly to 
the community’s overall mobility and well-being. 

Service Frequency 

• Urban Regions: A good public transportation system has frequent service intervals, especially during 
peak hours. This ensures that passengers do not have to wait long periods for the next trip. Studies 
have shown that operational hours from 6:00 AM to midnight with a minimum frequency of at least 
15 minutes in peak hours is the standard for effective service.  

• Low Density Regions: Flex routes and on-demand services should be reliable, with an on-time rate 
of greater than 95%, and no more than a 30-minute wait between a requested ride and the arrival 
of that ride. 

• Rural Regions: Demand-response with advance reservations, possible commuter services. 

Spans of Service (All Regions) 

• Extended Hours of Operation: To cater to people working non-standard hours (e.g., night workers, 
shift workers), public transportation should run late into the night or early in the morning.  

• Weekend and Holiday Service: A high-quality system ensures that transportation continues 
throughout weekends and on public holidays, as people still need to travel for various reasons like 
recreation, shopping, and visiting family. 

Coverage and Connectivity (All Regions) 

• Wide Coverage: A quality system covers all major areas of a city or region, including neighborhoods, 
business districts, shopping centers, schools, hospitals, and recreational spots.  

• Integration with Other Transport Modes: A good system should integrate with other transportation 
modes (such as cycling, walking paths, taxis, ridesharing, and even personal vehicles) to allow for 
smooth transfers between modes. 

• Critical Public Services: The system should provide essential links to hospitals, government 
buildings, employment centers, educational institutions, and other essential services. Having 
convenient access to these places makes the system more valuable and crucial for daily living. 

Accessibility (All Regions) 

• Universal Accessibility: Public transportation must be accessible to all people, including those with 
physical disabilities, older adults, and parents with children. Low-floor buses, ramps, elevators, and 
clear signage are essential for ease of access. 



 

14  

• Diverse Payment Options: Offering easy, flexible payment methods, such as contactless payments, 
mobile apps, or monthly passes, encourages use by a wide range of people and simplifies the 
journey. 

Safety and Security (All Regions) 

• Safe and Clean Vehicles and Stations: Cleanliness and safety within the vehicles and stations or at 
stops or other facilities appropriate for the regional context are essential for user satisfaction. 
Regular cleaning, proper lighting, and maintenance contribute to an overall feeling of security. 

• Security Measures: Systems should have visible security personnel, surveillance cameras, and 
emergency communication systems to reassure passengers about their safety, particularly in high-
traffic areas or late-night services. 

User Experience 

• On-Time Service: A quality system should prioritize punctuality and reliability. Passengers should be 
able to depend on the system to get to their destinations on time, with minimal delays or 
disruptions. 

• Comfortable and Clean Vehicles: Comfortable seats, adequate air conditioning/heating, and well-
maintained interiors create a pleasant travel experience. Also, the cleanliness of stations and 
vehicles is crucial for attracting repeat users. 

• Clear Signage and Information: Having clear, easy-to-understand signage, route maps, and 
information about timetables helps both regular and occasional users navigate the system with 
ease. 

• Integration of Technology: Offering apps with route planning, real-time tracking, mobile payments, 
and notifications significantly improves the user experience. 

VIII. TRANSIT VISION 
 
Right now, transit operators are struggling to maintain current levels of service, and ridership among 
many local transit providers is rebounding from the pandemic low. An immediate boost in operating 
support is needed to keep transit operators afloat.  Significant additional investment is needed if we 
want to see that the mobility needs of all Mainers are met and our downtowns, villages, and rural areas 
are interconnected with safe and affordable rides that boost our economy, reduce personal 
transportation costs, and get Mainers where they need to go.  
 
According to the American Public Transportation Association, every $1 spent on public transit generates 
$5 in economic return. Even with a significant service gap, local transit providers employ 1,500 people 
and provide approximately 14,250 trips per day, or 5.2 million trips per year. Transit is utilized in Maine, 
but we are far from our potential. Continued investment in transit will produce more jobs, provide more 
rides (especially for those who cannot drive or cannot afford to drive), generate more economic activity, 
and improve quality of life for Maine residents.  
 
We know that at least 40,000 Maine households do not have reliable access to a vehicle, and over 
90,000 Mainers aged 18 or older do not hold a driver's license. According to the Moving Maine Network, 
3 in 5 adults in Maine experience transportation insecurity.  Transit services are indispensable for this 
population, and provide a lifeline to our economy and essential services. However, current transit 
services have been found to meet only 11% of Maine’s total need.  



 

15  

 
To close our service gap and provide the type of service that would enable Mainers in every corner of 
the state to reliably depend upon public transit, our transit operators need to be fully resourced in rural 
and urban communities alike. The State of Maine not only needs to request more federal support for 
our operators, it needs to increase the percentage of local match contributions for operators and boost 
annual operating funds.  We propose implementing strategic measures that enhance funding and 
optimize resource utilization. 
 
Through FY23, the State of Maine contributed 2% of total operating expenses for Maine’s local transit 
providers (the state contributed 50% of operating expenses for MSFS and 7% for NNEPRA). The state has 
since increased operational support to $3 million annually. 
 
In 2023, local transit providers raised $8.9 million in local municipal funding for operations, representing 
11% of operating expenses. This is in addition to $35.3 million in other Directly Generated funds 
(advertising, private foundation grants, contracted services agreements, etc.). However, state funding is 
still a critical piece of revenue for all providers. It should also be noted that transit fares are deducted 
from eligible operating expenses, so cannot be used as local match for federal operating dollars. 
Comparing current state funding for operations to other levels of funding generated by providers, state 
funding accounts for only 2% of total operating expenses for all local transportation providers. To best 
support transit providers and match local funding for transit, the state should contribute at least $8.9 
million annually. 
 
This level of support is direly needed by transit operators to have a hope of maintaining existing service. 
These distributions must be accompanied by a transparent reporting of distributions, the rationale 
behind those distributions, and any formulas or guidelines used to determine funding amounts. 
 
Maine’s statewide long-range plans include goals to increase our state’s workforce by 75,000 by 2030, 
increase housing production by 80,000 units by 2030, increase transit service, and increase transit 
ridership by 5% annually. To actualize this vision, a commitment to transit-oriented development 
alongside substantial investment in our existing and future transit system is critical. 

 
IX.  RECOMMENDED PRIORITY STRATEGIES AND ASSIGNED ACTION STEPS 
 
To align with Maine’s Climate Action Plan goal of increasing ridership by 5% annually, and with a focus 
on building toward a Maine in which all Mainers have access to regular and reliable transit options, the 
recommendations below are presented with consensus from the PTAC membership in priority order. 
 
Recommended Priority Actions and Assigned Action Steps (2025-2026)  
 
Priority Recommendations 

• Increase state funding for transit. (Lead: Legislature and MaineDOT) 

○ Last year, local transit providers raised $8.9 million in local municipal funding for operations, 
representing 11% of operating expenses. This is in addition to $35.3 million in other Directly 
Generated funds (advertising, private foundation grants, contracted services agreements, 
etc.). However, state funding is still a critical piece of revenue for all providers. It should also 
be noted that transit fares are deducted from eligible operating expenses, so cannot be 
used as local match for federal operating dollars. 



 

16  

○ Comparing current state funding for operations to other levels of funding generated by 
providers, state funding accounts for only 2% of total operating expenses for all local transit 
providers. To best support local transit providers and match local funding for transit, the 
state should contribute at least $8.9 million annually, or 11% of current operating expenses. 

○ Following the success of last year’s discretionary awards to innovative transit projects, the 
state should also continue to provide an additional $2 million annually in funding for 
innovative projects. Clearly tie project selection to specific goals, priorities, or 
recommendations in the Maine State Transit Plan. 
 

• Establish a dedicated source for this funding. Ensure the funding source is permanent, long-term, 
and not subject to non-transit allocations. (Lead: Legislature) 

o The Council has identified three potential pathways for increasing funding for transit. For 
detailed options within each strategy, see Appendix E. 

▪ Strategy A: Adopt larger Highway Fund revenue sources and establish a statutory 
minimum transfer for transit expenditures.  

▪ Strategy B: Earmark minor revenue sources for the Multimodal Fund and establish a 
statutory minimum transfer specifically for Multimodal Fund purposes.  

▪ Strategy C: Earmark revenue sources specifically for transit operations.  
o Ensure transparency in decision making and funding allocations (Lead: MaineDOT) 

▪ Publish annual transit distributions, including the total amount made available for 
operations and innovative project support, and the amounts allocated to each 
agency. 

▪ For operations funding, publish the formulas and data inputs used to determine 
funding amounts. Engage stakeholders to ensure formulas and data inputs 
effectively and equitably advance agency, statewide, and other stakeholder goals. 

▪ For innovative projects, publish all projects submitted, all projects selected for 
funding, requested and awarded funding amounts, and the criteria by which 
selections are made. Engage stakeholders to ensure project selection criteria 
effectively and equitably advance agency, statewide, and other stakeholder goals. 

 
Other Recommendations 

• Implement a reporting system for transit projects that provides analysis on outcomes (Lead: 
MaineDOT)  

o Work with transit providers to measure and report ridership trends, obstacles, 
demographics of populations serviced, and accessibility measures implemented. 

o Release an annual report identifying statewide transit improvements and outcomes. 

• Designate funds for transportation programs that support mobility for older adults and people with 
mobility challenges. (Lead: MaineDOT) 

• Reduce local match for transit operators to leverage federal dollars. (Lead: MaineDOT) 
o Convene a stakeholder group including transit operators that identifies appropriate 

allocations.  

• Improve Coordination Across State Agencies (Lead: MaineDOT, State Agencies) 
o Adopt a Mobility Management approach to strengthen efficiency, accessibility, and 

sustainability of transportation in regions across the state.  
▪ Appoint a state Director of Mobility Management within the state government who 

is tasked with coordinating all efforts.  
o Department of Health and Human Services 



 

17  

▪ Develop an action plan for health systems and healthcare providers to collaborate 
with community transit services and volunteer transportation programs.  

o Build strong coordination between state agencies that fund transportation – including DOT, 
Department of Education, Department of Labor, DHHS, and Department of Justice – by 
establishing an interagency compact and coordinating council.  

▪ Create a transit service coverage map, outlining all transit routes with their varying 
headways. 

• Enhance and resource GO MAINE and associated outreach and education efforts (Lead: MaineDOT)  
○ Develop GO MAINE into a one-call, one-click service for all transportation options across the 

state.  
○ Incorporate GTFS and GTFS Flex mapping of services and routes into the GO MAINE trip 

planner.  
○ Incorporate automated fare payment systems into the GO MAINE trip planning platform, 

including single payment options across multiple providers.  
○ Expand GO MAINE capacity to include regional support staff for Bangor north.  

• Support volunteer driver needs (Lead: MaineDOT)  
○ Establish scope of services and hire consultant using federal funds.   
○ Following consultant report, propose budget to maintain service into the future. 
○ Establish an incentive program for volunteer drivers, including mileage reimbursement and 

rebates for efficient and electric vehicle purchases. 

• Conduct robust education and outreach with local partners pertaining to transit service availability 
and the means by which to use said service (Lead: MaineDOT, MPOs) 

 



Appendix A 

PUBLIC TRANSIT ADVISORY COUNCIL MEMBERSHIP 
February 2025 

 

Name Affiliation 
Term 
Expiration 

Ryan Neale MaineDOT (Commissioner's Designee) Open 

Stephanie Carver Kittery Area Comprehensive Transportation System 12/31/2026 

Larry Allen Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center 12/31/2027 

Maddie Jensen Bangor Area Comprehensive Transportation System 12/31/2025 

Andrew Clark Portland Area Comprehensive Transportation System 12/31/2026 

Jessica Maurer Maine Council on Aging 12/31/2027 

Tim Cowan MaineHealth 12/31/2025 

Eamonn Dundon Portland Regional Chamber of Commerce 12/31/2026 

Kim Moody Disability Rights Maine 12/31/2025 

Michael Hallundbaek Waldo Community Action Partners 12/31/2026 

Jay Kamm Northern Maine Development Commission 12/31/2027 

Kirk Bellavance Kennebec Valley Community Action Corporation  12/31/2025 

Dana Knapp Concord Coach Lines 12/31/2026 

Rep. Lydia Crafts Transportation Committee, Democratic Party 12/4/2027 

Sen. Brad Farrin Transportation Committee, Republican Party 12/4/2027 

Catherine Kruglak Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority 12/31/2027 

Susan Lessard Town of Bucksport 12/31/2025 

Nick Mavadones Casco Bay Island Transit District 12/31/2026 

Katherine Freund ITNAmerica 12/31/2025 

Rebecca Grover Maine Turnpike Authority / GO Maine 12/31/2025 

Barbara Schneider Citizen 12/31/2026 

Duane Scott Augusta Age-Friendly Advisory Committee 12/31/2027 

Amanda Dioszeghy The Jackson Laboratory 12/31/2026 

Josh Caldwell, Vice Chair Natural Resources Council of Maine 12/31/2026 

Sandy Buchanan Western Maine Transportation Services 12/31/2026 

Chad Heid, Chair Greater Portland Transit District 12/31/2025 

Omolola Achuba Maine Department of Labor 12/31/2026 

Cheryl Harkins Statewide Homeless Council 12/31/2025 

Cole Cochrane Maine Youth Action 12/31/2025 

 
 
 
 



   

 

 
 

 

 

Prepared for the John T. Gorman Foundation 

By Maine Applied Research 

January 2025 

Transportation Needs in Maine 
Data Brief 

Appendix B



 1

 

 

CONTENTS 

KEY FINDINGS ....................................................................................................................................................... 2 

NOTES .................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

HIGH-NEED POPULATIONS .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Households and Workers Without Vehicles ........................................................................................................ 4 

Low-Income Households .................................................................................................................................. 12 

People With Mobility Limitations ....................................................................................................................... 13 

Older Residents ................................................................................................................................................ 13 

New Mainers ..................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Migrant and Seasonal Farmworkers ................................................................................................................. 14 

People Without Driver’s Licenses ..................................................................................................................... 15 

COST OF VEHICLE DEPENDENCY .................................................................................................................... 17 

CALCULATION OF UNMET NEEDS .................................................................................................................... 19 

ENDNOTES........................................................................................................................................................... 23  

 

Prepared for 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cover Photo: Andy Thrasher, 2014 



 2

 

 

KEY FINDINGS 
Every day across Maine, thousands of people face challenges getting to work, school, and appointments, running 
errands, and maintaining social connections because they lack reliable transportation. This paper summarizes 
the publicly available data about these individuals and their households. Several key findings emerge from this 
review: 
 
Detai led,  publ ic  informat ion about  who needs to go where and when does not  ex is t .  

There is no public repository of specific information about who in Maine needs to go where and when. Without 
this, it is hard for transportation providers to efficiently design, operate, and grow public transportation services.  

Thousands of  Maine households lack a vehic le . 

In 2018-2022, nearly 40,000 Maine households did not have access to a vehicle. This represents approximately 
50,000 individuals of all ages. Many “zero-car” households are renters and people living by themselves. An 
estimated 15,000 employed workers lack a vehicle and another 52,000 live in households where the number of 
workers exceeds the number of vehicles. 

There are rac ia l  and ethnic  dispari t ies in  vehic le avai labi l i ty .   

In 2020, about 7% of White non-Hispanic households (38,000 households) lacked a vehicle. They account for the 
majority of zero-car households, but householders of other races and ethnicities were more likely to lack a vehicle 
on a percentage basis. This ranged from 10% of Asian householders to 20% of Native American householders.  

Thousands of  Mainers rely  on publ ic transporta t ion. 

In 2018-2022, approximately 3,000 Mainers regularly commuted using public transportation. National surveys 
show that “transit passengers are primarily people in the most economically active years of their lives, from 25 to 
64.”1 Workers who take public transportation were the most likely to have long commutes; one in four (25%) 
spent 60 minutes or more on their one-way journey to work.  

Thousands of  Mainers do not  have a dr iver ’s  l icense.   

Nearly 90,000 Maine residents do not hold a driver’s license. They include an estimated 15,200 people in their 
20s, roughly equal to the 14,600 people age 75 or older who lack a license. 

Cos t is  a  s ign if icant barr ier  to  l icensure  and vehic le ownership.  

Vehicles are expensive. In addition to their purchase cost and financing charges, they require fuel, oil, 
maintenance, repairs, and insurance. These expenses are even higher for older cars and households with poor 
credit. Studies find that transportation budgets for most Maine households exceed $1,000 per month. The high 
cost of getting a license is an additional deterrent for some young people and new Mainers.  

Maine publ ic  t ranspor tat ion prov iders  are  current ly meet ing about 11% of need.   

A conservative estimate of unmet transportation need suggests that Maine’s current providers are meeting about 
11% of total need (3 million out of 28 million trips per year). Reaching just 20% would mean growing current 
services by about 75% (an additional 2.4 million trips).



 3 

 
  

 
 

NOTES 
This data brief presents publicly available, quantifiable information on the transportation needs and 
barriers faced by Maine residents, with a focus on low-income households. It draws heavily from the U.S. 
Census Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS), as well as a variety of other federal, state, 
academic, and non-profit sources. 

 The ACS provides one- and five-year estimates for most of the statistics in this report. One-year 
estimates offer a more recent snapshot of conditions but are not available for smaller geographies and 
have larger margins of error (MOE), especially for relatively small population subsets. Five-year estimates 
are available for all regions and have smaller margins of error. For example, the number of Maine workers 
whose commute on public transportation was 60 minutes or more was estimated to be 1,129 with an MOE 
of 569 (50%) for the single year of 2022 and 759 with an MOE of 168 (22%) for the five years from 2018 to 
2022. For this reason, most ACS data used herein is 2018-2022. 

 The ACS reports its estimates to the ones digit (e.g., 28,895 renter households lack a vehicle, with 
MOE of 1,434). Rather than include the MOEs for all statistics in this report, or create a false sense of 
precision by excluding them, we have rounded estimates to the nearest thousand or hundred when 
referenced in the text. Some percentages have also been rounded. 

 The COVID-19 pandemic started in 2020, squarely in the middle of the ACS’s most recent five-year 
estimates (2018-2022). It created unprecedented disruptions in the daily lives of Maine households and 
significantly increased the cost of housing and vehicles. Therefore, 2018-2022 averages may not reflect 
the full extent to which these events have changed the conditions and choices of Maine households. 

 This report draws on the Census Bureau’s Household Pulse Survey, developed during COVID-19 to 
capture real-time information on critical issues facing households. Its most recent iteration (Phase 4.2) 
asks several questions about transportation. This survey’s sample size is small and the Census Bureau 
calls it “experimental”, urging users to be cautious when interpreting estimates of small sub-populations. 

 This data brief presents information on “households” and “householders”. The Census Bureau 
defines a “household” as all the people who occupy a housing unit.2 They may be related family members 
or not. The Census Bureau defines “householder” as the person in whose name the housing unit is owned 
or rented. If the unit is owned or rented by a couple, then either partner may be designated as the 
householder.  

 The Census Bureau defines “workers” as household members who did any work for pay in the week 
prior to the survey, or who had a job but did not work the previous week due to an illness, vacation, or 
another reason, or who did unpaid work for their family business.  

 The ACS includes one question about vehicles: “How many automobiles, vans, or trucks of one-ton 
capacity or less are kept at the home for the use of members of this household?”3 If the answer is one or 
more, then the household is said to have a vehicle “available.” (The survey does not include any other 
questions about the ownership, condition, or use of the vehicle.)  

 The term “zero-car” household refers to households that lack any vehicle, including cars, vans, and 
trucks. It is widely used in the transportation community and, therefore, is used in this report. 



 4 

 
  

 
 

HIGH-NEED POPULATIONS 
According to the Transportation Research Board, the factors that most restrict American’s daily 
movements are lack of access to a vehicle and poverty, followed by disability and age.4 Maine providers 
report additional obstacles, such as not having a driver’s license, the cost of owning or operating a 
vehicle, and cultural barriers. This section presents data on zero-car households and several other 
populations with high transportation needs. 

Households and Workers Without Vehicles 

About 40,000 Maine households, accounting for about 50,000 individuals, lack a vehicle. 
 
In 2018-2022, 7% of Maine households (nearly 40,000) did not have access to a vehicle. This represents 
approximately 50,000 individuals for whom getting to work, the grocery store, or a medical appointment 
requires walking, biking, public transit, or getting a ride from family or friends. This estimate aligns with 
another survey, which finds that in August and September 2024 about 50,000 Maine adults “always” or 
“often” lacked enough transportation to meet their needs and another 37,000 “sometimes” lacked enough.5 
 
Even households with a vehicle may be dependent on other means if household members need to be in 
different places at the same time and coordinated travel is not possible. For instance, 11,000 households 
(about 43,000 individuals) have four or more members and one vehicle. Anecdotal evidence suggests that 
these households also face challenges. If one member needs the car to get to work, others may be 
stranded. The chart below shows the estimated percentage of Maine adults with access to various forms of 
transportation. Compared to the U.S. average, Mainers are less likely to have access to buses, trains, and 
paratransit and more likely to have ferry access.6 Car ownership is higher in Maine than elsewhere in the 
U.S. (83% compared to 78%). 
 
Many zero-car households are renters and people living by themselves.  

 

49%

19%

5%

83%

10%

6%

15%

13%

6%

4%

1%

2%

9%

43%

18%

3%

78%

10%

6%

19%

19%

10%

2%

1%

2%

12%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Walk

Bike or e-scooter

Motorcycle or moped

Own personal vehicle

Borrowed vehicle

Rental car

Taxi service or rideshare

Bus

Rail transit

Ferryboat

Paratransit

Other methods

Did not report

Maine U.S.

Available Transportation Options, Adult Population

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Household Pulse Survey, August-Septemer 2024



 5 

 
  

 
 

Nearly three out of four zero-car households (73%) are one-person households, and a similar share (72%) 
are renters. This means the share of zero-car households will be higher in places with robust rental 
markets and more one-person households. Young adults age 25 to 34 and older adults age 65 and older 
are most likely to live alone.7 The age of householders who lack a vehicle is fairly evenly distributed, with 
most being age 35 to 64 (46%) or 65 and older (42%).  
 
   

Share of Maine zero-car households that are… 

1-person households 73% 

2-person households 17% 

3-person households 5% 

4-or-more-person households 4% 

  

Householder 15 to 34 years 12% 

Householder 35 to 64 years 46% 

Householder 65 years and over 42% 

  

Owner-occupied housing units 28% 

Renter-occupied housing units 72% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2018-2022 

 



 6 

 
  

 
 

   

Vehicle availability by household characteristics, 2018-2022 

 

United States Maine 

Total 

No vehicle 

Total 

No vehicle 

Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Households 125,736,353 10,474,870 8.3% 580,172 39,867 6.9% 

       

By household size       

1-person  35,550,232 6,302,040 17.7% 178,884 29,240 16.3% 

2-person  42,558,406 2,226,146 5.2% 224,979 6,787 3.0% 

3-person  19,451,108 932,293 4.8% 81,908 2,060 2.5% 

4-or-more-person  28,176,607 1,014,391 3.6% 94,401 1,780 1.9% 

       

By age of householder       

15 to 34 years 23,882,491 2,188,378 9.2% 89,538 4,902 5.5% 

35 to 64 years 68262086 4459517 6.5% 305,909 18,352 6.0% 

65 years and over 33,591,776 3,826,975 11.4% 184,725 16,613 9.0% 

       

By housing tenure       

Owner-occupied  81,497,760 2,560,689 3.1% 426,239 10,972 2.6% 

Renter-occupied  44,238,593 7,914,181 17.9% 153,933 28,895 18.8% 

       

By race and ethnicity of householder (2020)*       

White alone 83,715,168 6,482,186 7.7% 506,586 37,776 7.5% 

Black of African American alone 11,977,309 2,848,615 23.8% 1,952 275 14.1% 

American Indian or Alaska Native alone 765,474 113,710 14.9% 2,735 542 19.8% 

Asian alone 3,117,356 397,455 12.7% 2,191 219 10.0% 

Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander alone 98,739 11,053 11.2% 88 15 17.0% 

Other race alone 3,835,590 691,659 18.0% 647 86 13.3% 

Two or more races 1,970,465 316,389 16.1% 4,001 552 13.8% 

       

Hispanic or Latino 9,179,764 1,579,077 17.2% 2,267 262 11.6% 

White Alone, Not Hispanic or Latino 79,086,566 5,767,146 7.3% 504,979 37,590 7.4% 

       

Individuals** 331,097,593 15,382,631  4.6% 1,366,949 49,329  3.6% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), 2018-2022 5-Year Estimates. 
*U.S. Census Bureau, 2020 Decennial Census 
**Author’s calculations based on household size; “4 or more” households counted as four individuals. 



 7 

 
  

 
 

There are racial and ethnic disparities in vehicle availability.  
 
In 2020, about 7% of White non-Hispanic households lacked a vehicle. They account for the majority of 
zero-car households, but householders of other races and ethnicities were more likely to lack a vehicle on 
a percentage basis. This ranged from 10% of Asian householders to 20% of Native American 
householders.  
 

Maine households by race and ethnicity of householder  

 Total 

No vehicle 

Number Percentage 

White alone 506,586 37,776 7.5% 

Black of African American alone 1,952 275 14.1% 

American Indian or Alaska Native alone 2,735 542 19.8% 

Asian alone 2,191 219 10.0% 

Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander alone 88 15 17.0% 

Other race alone 647 86 13.3% 

Two or more races 4,001 552 13.8% 

    

Hispanic or Latino 2,267 262 11.6% 

White Alone, not Hispanic or Latino 504,979 37,590 7.4% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2020 

  

Over 15,000 Maine workers lack access to a vehicle.  

In 2018-2022, an estimated 15,000 employed Maine workers did not have a vehicle. This represented 

about 2% of all workers, below the national rate of 4%. Another 52,000 workers live in households that 

have a vehicle, but where the number of workers exceeds the number of vehicles. For instance, a three-

worker household with one or two vehicles. These workers may be able to coordinate vehicle travel, but 

only if their schedules and employer-locations allow it.  

About 3,000 Maine workers regularly take public transportation to work, sometimes enduring commutes of 

over one hour.  

In 2018-2022, most Mainers (84%) usually drove to work alone. Ten percent carpooled, 4% walked, and 

0.5% (approximately 3,000 workers) used public transportation. In other words, about 1 in 200 Maine 

workers (0.5%) commuted using public transportation, compared to about 1 in 25 nationwide (4%). 

Workers who take public transportation were the most likely to have long commutes; one in four (25%) 

spent 60 minutes or more on their one-way journey to work.  

National surveys show that, “transit passengers are primarily people in the most economically active 

years of their lives, from 25 to 64.”8 One study found that in 2017, 79% of transit riders were in this age 

group, 7% were older, and 14% were younger.9 Almost half (49%) of all public transit rides were people 

going to or from work. 

 



 8 

 
  

 
 

 

Vehicle availability and means of transportation to work for workers age 16 and older, 2018-2022 

 

United States Maine 

Total 

No vehicle 

Total 

No vehicle 

Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Workers  155,201,468 6,626,478 4.3% 661,334 15,209 2.3% 

Male 82,664,654 3,408,871 4.1% 341,810 7,517 2.2% 

Female 72,536,814 3,217,607 4.4% 319,524 7,692 2.4% 

Workers in households with a vehicle, but with fewer vehicles than workers* 

Total workers  14,452,671 9.3%  51,607 7.8% 

Means of transportation to work (workers who did not work from home) 

Total workers  138,386,938   587,492  

Drove alone  112,314,702 81.2%  492,292 83.8% 

Carpooled  13,388,082 9.7%  58,505 10.0% 

Public transportation (excluding taxicab)  5,945,723 4.3%  2,999 0.5% 

Walked  3,807,792 2.8%  24,157 4.1% 

Those within each category whose commute was 60 or more minutes (one way) 

Drove alone  8,288,546 7.4%  32,324 6.6% 

Carpooled  1,354,679 10.1%  5,331 9.1% 

Public transportation (excluding taxicab)  2,264,502 38.1%  759 25.3% 

Walked  63,407 1.7%  248 1.0% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), 2018-2022 5-Year Estimates. 
* Author’s calculations based on household size; “3 or more worker” households counted as three individuals. 



 9 

 
  

 
 

There are zero-car households in every Maine county. 

 
Statewide, the share of zero-car households 
ranges from 5% in York County to 9% in 
Franklin County. There are at least 1,000 
zero-car households in all but three Maine 
counties (Lincoln, Piscataquis, and 
Sagadahoc) and five counties have more 
than 3,000 (Androscoggin, Cumberland, 
Kennebec, Penobscot, and York). The 
greatest numbers are in counties with the 
largest population centers: Cumberland 
(Portland), Penobscot (Bangor), York 
(Biddeford-Saco and Sanford), 
Androscoggin (Lewiston-Auburn), and 
Kennebec (Augusta). These places tend to 
have large rental housing stock and larger 
populations of low-income households, New 
Mainers, and younger individuals who lack 
vehicles.  
 
 
 
Workers in Cumberland, Hancock, Waldo, and York counties are most likely to use public transportation. 
 
Just 0.5% of Maine workers commuted using public transportation in 2018-2022, but the percentage was 
higher in four counties: Cumberland, which has the state’s largest public transit system by ridership; 
Hancock, which has a transit offerings through Acadia National Park and the Jackson Laboratory; Waldo; 
and York, which has Biddeford-Saco-Old Orchard Beach Transit and offerings connected to Portsmouth 
Naval Shipyard. 
 
  

Androscoggin

Aroostook

Cumberland

Franklin
Hancock

Kennebec

Knox

Lincoln

Oxford

Penobscot

Piscataquis
Sagadahoc

Somerset
Waldo Washington

York

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

4% 5% 6% 7% 8% 9% 10%

N
um

be
r o

f n
o-

ve
hi

cl
e 

ho
us

eh
ol

ds

Percentage of no-vehicle households

No-Vehicle Households by County, 2018-2022

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2018-2022 five-year estimates

4.3%

0.5% 0.4%
0.1%

1.0%

0.0%

0.7%

0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%
0.4%

0.0%
0.3%

0.1%

0.6%

0.1%

0.7%

Workers who regularly commute using public transportation

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2018-2022 five-year estimates



 10 

 
  

 
 

Vehicle availability and means of transportation to work by county, 2018-2022 

  

A
nd

ro
sc

og
gi

n 

A
ro

os
to

ok
 

C
um

be
rla

nd
 

F
ra

nk
lin

 

H
an

co
ck

 

K
en

ne
be

c 

K
no

x 

Li
nc

ol
n 

Total households 45,825 29,237 128,184 12,276 24,660 53,452 17,780 15,848 

No vehicle available 
4,130 2,510 8,988 1,126 1,374 3,926 1,028 850 

9.0% 8.6% 7.0% 9.2% 5.6% 7.3% 5.8% 5.4% 

Total population 111,532 67,237 303,357 29,839 55,851 124,003 40,729 35,466 
Individuals in 
households with no 
vehicle available* 

  4,866         3,107  11,594  1,380  1,714         5,278  1,320            991  

4.4% 4.6% 3.8% 4.6% 3.1% 4.3% 3.2% 2.8% 

Total owner-occupied 
housing units 30,450 21,495 89,627 9,290 19,411 38,739 14,084 13,122 

No vehicle available 
572 574 2,180 358 409 846 384 376 

1.9% 2.7% 2.4% 3.9% 2.1% 2.2% 2.7% 2.9% 

Total renter-occupied 
housing units 15,375 7,742 38,557 2,986 5,249 14,713 3,696 2,726 

No vehicle available 
3,558 1,936 6,808 768 965 3,080 644 474 

23.1% 25.0% 17.7% 25.7% 18.4% 20.9% 17.4% 17.4% 

Total workers age 16 years 
and over who did not work 
from home  48,763 26,302 137,372 12,400 24,241 52,142 16,488 14,779 

Drove alone 
40,356 22,174 111,388 10,269 19,138 44,922 13,499 12,339 

82.8% 84.3% 81.1% 82.8% 78.9% 86.2% 81.9% 83.5% 

Carpooled 
5,884 2,890 12,827 1,273 3,324 4,820 1,828 1,900 

12.1% 11.0% 9.3% 10.3% 13.7% 9.2% 11.1% 12.9% 

Public transportation 
(excluding taxicab) 

188 33 1375 0 172 60 12 22 

0.4% 0.1% 1.0% 0.0% 0.7% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 

Walked 
1,740 741 8,920 526 1,182 1,708 929 383 

3.6% 2.8% 6.5% 4.2% 4.9% 3.3% 5.6% 2.6% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), 2018-2022 5-Year Estimates. 

* Author’s calculations based on household size; “4 or more” households counted as four individuals. 
 
  



 11 

 
  

 
 

Vehicle availability and means of transportation to work by county, 2018-2022 

  

O
xf

or
d 

P
en

ob
sc

ot
 

P
is

ca
ta

qu
is

 

S
ag

ad
ah

oc
 

S
om

er
se

t 

W
al

do
 

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

Y
or

k 

Total households 23,183 63,687 7,654 16,060 22,074 17,263 13,585 89,404 

No vehicle available 
1,300 5,200 470 939 1,378 1,000 1,012 4,636 

5.6% 8.2% 6.1% 5.8% 6.2% 5.8% 7.4% 5.2% 

Total population 58,276 152,640 16,936 36,868 50,656 39,772 31,096 212,691 

Individuals in 
households with no 
vehicle available* 

       1,685         6,238            537         1,102         1,606         1,392         1,206         5,343  

2.9% 4.1% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.5% 3.9% 2.5% 

Total owner-occupied 
housing units 18,627 44,498 5,909 12,319 16,954 13,911 10,645 67,158 

No vehicle available 
549 1,294 156 372 540 403 317 1,642 

2.9% 2.9% 2.6% 3.0% 3.2% 2.9% 3.0% 2.4% 

Total renter-occupied 
housing units 4,556 19,189 1,745 3,741 5,120 3,352 2,940 22,246 

No vehicle available 
751 3,906 314 567 838 597 695 2,994 

16.5% 20.4% 18.0% 15.2% 16.4% 17.8% 23.6% 13.5% 

Total workers age 16 
years and over who did 
not work from home  22,907 65,428 6,426 16,412 19,945 15,674 11,322 96,891 

Drove alone 
19,822 55,613 5,332 14,050 16,827 13,524 9,422 83,617 

86.5% 85.0% 83.0% 85.6% 84.4% 86.3% 83.2% 86.3% 

Carpooled 
2,052 5,496 648 1,436 2,366 1,289 1,420 9,052 

9.0% 8.4% 10.1% 8.7% 11.9% 8.2% 12.5% 9.3% 

Public transportation 
(excluding taxicab) 

21 290 3 55 25 99 12 632 

0.1% 0.4% 0.0% 0.3% 0.1% 0.6% 0.1% 0.7% 

Walked 
717 2,477 355 626 521 527 406 2,399 

3.1% 3.8% 5.5% 3.8% 2.6% 3.4% 3.6% 2.5% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), 2018-2022 5-Year Estimates. 

* Author’s calculations based on household size; “4 or more” households counted as four individuals. 
 

  



 12 

 
  

 
 

Low-Income Households 

Transportation may be especially difficult for the 31,000 employed Mainers living below the poverty line. 
 
In 2022, about 1 in 9 Mainers (11% or 147,000 residents) lived in a household with income below the 
federal poverty line.10 These include approximately 31,000 employed workers (based on 2018-2022 data). 
For these individuals, transportation is key to reaching the jobs and earnings they so critically need. If they 
own a vehicle, one car repair or unpaid bill can undermine their ability to get to work. The table below 
shows that almost two in three employed Maine workers live in the counties with its largest cities: Portland, 
Bangor, Augusta, Lewiston-Auburn, Biddeford, Saco, and Sanford.  
 

Employed workers, 2018-2022 

 Total 

Household income below 
poverty line 

Number Percentage 

United States 157,913,626 8,929,884 5.7% 

Maine 675,139 30,864 4.6% 

    

Cumberland County 164,741 5,412 3.3% 

Penobscot County 72,130 4,522 6.3% 

York County 112,170 4,027 3.6% 

Kennebec County 59,433 2,640 4.4% 

Androscoggin County 55,267 2,354 4.3% 

Somerset County 22,560 1,728 7.7% 

Aroostook County 28,539 1,637 5.7% 

Hancock County 27,588 1,602 5.8% 

Oxford County 26,049 1,403 5.4% 

Waldo County 18,265 1,087 6.0% 

Knox County 19,392 895 4.6% 

Sagadahoc County 19,067 855 4.5% 

Franklin County 13,495 849 6.3% 

Washington County 12,627 842 6.7% 

Lincoln County 16,748 657 3.9% 

Piscataquis County 7,068 354 5.0% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), 2018-2022 5-Year Estimates. 

 
In August-September 2024, the U.S. Census Bureau’s Household Pulse Survey suggested that about 
10,500 Mainers were unemployed due to a lack of transportation, and about 31,500 had insufficient access 
to food due to a “transportation, mobility, or health limitation”.11  
 
Community Action Agencies regularly evaluate the top challenges facing Maine’s low-income households. 
In their most recent needs assessment, transportation was one of the top five needs of Mainers with low 
incomes (along with affordable housing, childcare, health care, and overcoming generational poverty).12 In 
particular, the agencies found that transportation “…remains a persistent barrier for young people finding 
better jobs, and those needing to travel for treatment.” 13  



 13 

 
  

 
 

 
Maine Equal Justice Partners (MEJP) found transportation to be a top challenge of low-income parents 
enrolled in the Higher Opportunity Pathways for Education (HOPE) program. HOPE provides scholarships 
and supports to parents as they pursue postsecondary education and training. MEJP provides additional 
financial support to individuals in the program. In a 2023 survey of participants, transportation was the top 
“pressing need” for which participants sought assistance, ahead of many other utilities and expenses, and 
85% said transportation expenses were “regularly difficult to cover”.14 “Study participants reported relying 
almost solely on their car not only to get to their educational program but to also bring their children to 
school, appointments, therapy, and to shop for food, clothing and other necessities. Without a car, most 
are stuck, especially the 60.0% of survey respondents who live in rural and semi-rural areas.”15 

People With Mobility Limitations 

About 44,000 working-age Mainers have a disability that limits independent living. 
 
According to the Transportation Research Board, individuals with a disability that causes difficulty living 
independently “are thought to be the group most likely to require passenger transportation services.”16 The 
ACS asks a very specific question on this topic: “Because of a physical, mental, or emotional condition, 
does this person have difficulty doing errands alone such as visiting a doctor’s office or shopping?”17 In 
2023, about 5% of Mainers age 18-64 had this type of disability. This is slightly above the U.S. average of 
4% and represents about 44,000 Mainers.  
 

Older Residents 

Maine has a growing population of older residents, who may benefit from public transit.  
 
Maine’s status as one of the oldest U.S. states is well known. In 2020, 21% of residents were age 65 and 
older, and this is projected to rise to 30% by 2040.18 In some places, the share of older residents will be 
even higher – in Hancock, Knox, Lincoln, Piscataquis, and Sagadahoc counties, more than one in three 
people of will be age 65 or older. 
 
Older householders are more likely not to have a vehicle than their younger neighbors, so an increase in 
the percentage of older residents will likely increase the number of zero-car households. The table below 
shows the number of zero-car households by age of householder in 2018-2022, the projected change of 
these age groups from 2020 to 2040, and the resulting projection of zero-car households in 2040. These 
projections do not account for changes in patterns of household formation, vehicle use and ownership, or 
licensure that may occur during this period. Based on these conditions, the number of zero-car households 
in Maine may grow 15%, from about 40,000 in 2018-2022 to 46,000 in 2040 simply due to the aging of the 
population.  
 

Projection of 2040 zero-car households 

 Total 

No vehicle 

Number Percentage 

2018-2022: Age of householder  

15 to 34 years 89,538 4,902 5.5% 

35 to 64 years 305,909 18,352 6.0% 



 14 

 
  

 
 

65 years and over 184,725 16,613 9.0% 

Total 580,172 39,867 6.9% 

Projected change of age group, 2020-204019  

15 to 34 years -11% 

35 to 64 years -6% 

65 years and over 46% 

2040: Age of householder  

15 to 34 years 79,971 4,378 5.5% 

35 to 64 years 287,073 17,222 6.0% 

65 years and over 269,201 24,210 9.0% 

Total 636,246 45,811 7.2% 

Change in zero-car households (2018-2022 to 2040)  

Number 56,074 5,944  

Percentage 9.7% 14.9%  
Source: Author’s calculations based on U.S. Census Bureau, ACS, 2018-2020 five-year estimates and 
demographic projections from the State of Maine, Department of Administrative and Financial Services, 2023. 

New Mainers 

Costs and cultural barriers pose unique challenges for residents arriving from other countries.  
 
In 2023, Maine had an estimated 24,000 foreign-born residents who had entered the U.S. in 2010 or 
later.20 An estimated 5,800 have arrived since 2020.21 In addition to the financial and logistical barriers of 
owning a vehicle, some of these residents come from places and circumstances where driver’s licenses 
and vehicle ownership were either unnecessary or unobtainable. Moreover, Maine is one of 31 states that 
does not allow unauthorized workers to obtain driver’s licenses.22 This creates an additional hurdle for 
some immigrants. The number of unauthorized workers in Maine is not known but one estimate put it at 
less than 1% of workers.23  
 

Migrant and Seasonal Farmworkers 

Transportation can be a challenge for farmworkers and their families.  
 
According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture, in 2022, Maine farms employed 7,267 seasonal workers 
(those who work for less than 150 days) and 1,919 migrant workers (those who work at jobs over 75 miles 
apart or traveled over 75 miles for work in the past 12 months).24 There is little documentation of the 
challenges faced by these workers and their families, but anecdotal evidence suggests that transportation 
is one of them. Without access to a personal vehicle, many workers must rely on farmers, farmers’ 
families, or other workers for rides to shop for groceries or other personal items; to access medical, 
educational, or legal services; or to attend social functions. These logistical barriers are complicated by 
economic factors. Nationwide, 21% of crop workers had family incomes below the poverty line in 2021-
2022.25 This share was even higher for migrant workers (41%) and workers with larger families (as high as 
36% for families with six or more members).26 
 



 15 

 
  

 
 

People Without Driver’s Licenses 

Nearly 90,000 Maine residents do not hold a driver’s license. They include about 15,200 people in their 
20s, which roughly equals the 14,600 people age 75 or older who lack a license. 
 
The vast majority (92%) of Maine adults hold a driver’s license but the 8% who do not represent nearly 
90,000 individuals spanning every age group. While this characteristic is often mentioned in connection 
with older residents, a comparison of license holders and Maine residents by age shows the number of 
people in their 20s who lack a license may exceed the number of people age 75+. 
 

 
 
The cost of getting a driver’s license is a barrier for some young people and new Mainers.  
 
Since at least the 1980s, the rate at which U.S. teenagers get driver’s licenses has fallen for a variety of 
reasons, one of which is cost.27 An informal web search of driver’s education classes around Maine found 
prices ranging from $500 to $600. The State of Maine charges $35 for a learner’s permit, $70 for a license 

Maine driver’s license holders by age, 2023 

Age 
 

 
Residents 

 

License holders Non-license holders 

Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Under 19* 62,281 36,094 58% 26,187 42% 

20-24* 73,788 64,101 87% 9,687 13% 

25-29 79,660 74,106 93% 5,554 7% 

30-34 89,061 85,819 96% 3,242 4% 

35-39 88,353 87,922 100% 431 0% 

40-44 84,752 82,408 97% 2,344 3% 

45-49 77,974 76,022 97% 1,952 3% 

50-54 88,811 84,651 95% 4,160 5% 

55-59 97,083 91,490 94% 5,593 6% 

60-64 109,409 103,452 95% 5,957 5% 

65-69 103,987 99,143 95% 4,844 5% 

70-74 86,440 82,497 95% 3,943 5% 

75-79 62,098 59,752 96% 2,346 4% 

80-84 36,617 33,957 93% 2,660 7% 

85+ 31,699 22,070 70% 9,629 30% 

Total 1,172,013 1,083,484 92% 88,529 8% 

      

20-29 153,448 138,207 90% 15,241 10% 

75+ 130,414 115,779 89% 14,635 11% 

Sources: State of Maine, Bureau of Motor Vehicles, driver license information for 2023; U.S. Census Bureau, annual estimates of the 
resident population by single year of age, July 1, 2023; National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education 
Data System, residence and migration of first-time degree/certificate-seeking undergraduates by state, fall 2022. 
*Resident count of 18–21-year-olds reduced to account for out-of-state college students. 



 16 

 
  

 
 

exam, and requires drivers under age 21 to log 70 hours of practice driving with a more experienced 
driver. These financial and logistical hurdles can be difficult or impossible for families that lack a vehicle or 
have a vehicle but lack the time to use it for practice driving. 



 17 

 
  

 
 

COST OF VEHICLE DEPENDENCY 
Living in a rural state, vehicle access is essential for many Maine households, but purchasing, operating, 
and maintaining a vehicle is costly.1 This section presents estimates of these costs from two sources.  

 

Owning and operating a vehicle is expensive. 
 
One estimate of the cost of vehicle 
dependency comes from the United Way. 
This organization identifies a category of 
Asset-Limited, Income-Constrained 
(“ALICE”) households with incomes above 
the federal poverty line but below the level 
of financial stability.28 To determine which 
households fall into this category, the 
United Way constructs “survival” and 
“stability” budgets that draw from an 
extensive collection of national datasets.29 The “survival budget” covers the minimum expenses of the 
average low-income household and does not allow for any savings that could be used in an emergency. 
The “stability budget” allows for 10% savings and 
higher spending across other categories. Both 
budgets are broken into eight categories: housing, 
childcare, food, transportation, technology, health 
care, taxes, and miscellaneous. Transportation 
includes the costs of gas, oil, maintenance, minimal 
insurance, and depreciation, but not the cost of 
major repairs or car payments.2 The table above 
shows the transportation costs for each budget. 
United Way notes that this likely underestimates 
costs for households with low credit scores, which 
may be charged higher insurance rates. 30 
 
The Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s Living 
Wage Institute publishes a similar “basic needs” 
budget based on actual transportation expenditures 
of households earning 80% of a region’s median 
income, as reported on national surveys.31 These 
estimates include the cost of vehicle financing and 
repairs, and are higher than the ALICE estimates. 
They reflect the use of public transportation where 
available.  

 
1 In 2018-2022, Maine ranked 32nd of the 50 states for the percentage of households with access to a vehicle and 
31st for the number of motor vehicles registered per capita. Source: Valentine, Ashlee, “Car Ownership Statistics 
2024,” Forbes Advisor, 28 March 2024. 
2 The ALICE transportation budget includes public transportation in places where at least 8% of the metro-region or 
county population uses public transportation to commute to work. Since no region in Maine has reached this 
threshold, the ALICE budget for Maine is assumed to reflect only vehicle transportation. 

Monthly household transportation costs, Maine 2022 

 “Survival budget” “Stability budget” 

Single adult $396 $801 

One adult, one child $529 -- 

Two adults $636 $1,076 

Two adults, two children $1,046 $1,559 

Source: United for ALICE 

“Basic needs” transportation budget, Maine, 2023  

 
Monthly Annual 

1 Adult 

0 Children $865  $10,378  

1 Child $1,001  $12,011  

2 Children $1,261  $15,129  

3 Children $1,451  $17,408  

2 Adults 
(1 working) 

0 Children $1,001  $12,011  

1 Child $1,261  $15,129  

2 Children $1,451  $17,408  

3 Children $1,449  $17,388  

2 Adults 
(both working) 

0 Children $1,001  $12,011  

1 Child $1,261  $15,129  

2 Children $1,451  $17,408  

3 Children $1,449  $17,388  

Source: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Living Wage 
Institute, 2024 



 18 

 
  

 
 

 

Transportation expenses are highest in rural counties. 
 
The Living Wage Institute’s analysis shows higher transportation costs in Maine’s rural counties, and 
lower costs in more populated areas with some level of public transportation. In 2023, the estimated 
expenses of an adult in rural Oxford or Franklin counties was 20% (nearly $2,000) more than someone in 
more urban Androscoggin county. 
 

“Basic needs” transportation budget for 1 adult and 0 children, by county (lowest to 
highest), 2023 

 
Monthly Annual Comparison to state average 

Androscoggin $791  $9,491  -9% 

Penobscot $831  $9,967  -4% 

Kennebec $835  $10,017  -3% 

Aroostook $836  $10,026  -3% 

Cumberland $848  $10,178  -2% 

Washington $858  $10,301  -1% 

Knox $867  $10,409  0% 

Somerset $870  $10,440  +1% 

Piscataquis $888  $10,661  +3% 

Lincoln $890  $10,681  +3% 

Waldo $896  $10,749  +4% 

Hancock $904  $10,853  +5% 

York $913  $10,951  +6% 

Sagadahoc $913  $10,955  +6% 

Oxford $947  $11,362  +9% 

Franklin $948  $11,376  +10% 

Source: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Living Wage Institute, 2024 

 
 



 19 

 
  

 
 

CALCULATION OF UNMET NEEDS 
This section uses a methodology developed by the Transportation Research Board (TRB) to estimate 

unmet need for public transit in rural places.32 The Maine Public Transit Advisory Council’s (PTAC) 2019 

report also utilized this approach.33 The TRB’s methodology involves calculating the “mobility gap” which 

is “the total number of trips not taken because members of zero-car households do not have the ease of 

mobility available to members of households with ready access to a car.”34 Calculating the gap involves 

comparing the number of trips taken by zero-car and one-car households, as reported in the Federal 

Highway Administration’s National Household Transportation Survey (NHTS).  

The PTAC 2019 report used mobility gaps derived from the 2009 NHTS. The following calculation updates 

the estimates using 2017 NHTS results.3 It utilizes nationwide results based on county size and 

Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) classification as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau. National results 

are used because the margins of error for New England were very high for some variables (e.g., over 50% 

for trips taken by zero-car households in MSAs of less than 250,000 people). Cumberland, Sagadahoc, 

and York counties are in the Portland-South Portland MSA, which has a population of over 500,000. 

Androscoggin and Penobscot counties constitute the Lewiston-Auburn and Bangor MSAs, respectively, 

with populations below 250,000. All other Maine counties are not in an MSA. 

Maine Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs) Population (2023) Counties 

Lewiston-Auburn 113,765 Androscoggin 

Bangor 155,312 Penobscot 

Portland-South Portland 566,329 Cumberland, Sagadahoc, York 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Population Estimates: Vintage 2023.  

 

The calculations below result in mobility gaps ranging from 1.4 daily person-trips for rural counties not in 

an MSA to 2.9 for counties in MSAs with populations of 250,000-499,999. “Person trips” are trips from one 

address to another address taken by a single person. Two people traveling in one vehicle would count as 

two person-trips. 

  

 
3 The Federal Highway Administration conducted the NHTS again in 2022 but with a much smaller sample, so the results have much 
higher margins of error.  



 20 

 
  

 
 

Mobility gap calculation  

 Not in MSA 

Population of MSA in which household is located 

< 250,000 
250,000 - 

499,999 
500,000 - 

999,999 
1,000,000 - 

2,999,999 ≥ 3 million 

Total annual person-trips* 

Household 
vehicles 

0 
                
1,947,366,170  

                
1,085,551,519  

                     
799,447,520  

                
1,562,344,222  

                
3,337,634,508  

              
10,184,183,379  

1 
              
11,401,551,223  

                
8,537,827,795  

                
8,545,308,567  

              
10,665,567,783  

              
20,442,445,480  

              
34,372,901,088  

Number of households* 

Household 
vehicles 

0 
                          
1,205,832  

                              
773,481  

                              
619,474  

                          
1,044,135  

                          
1,804,827  

                          
5,119,009  

1 
                          
5,318,684  

                          
3,711,235  

                          
3,652,024  

                          
4,633,728  

                          
8,714,194  

                       
13,617,708  

Annual person-trips per household (trips divided by households) 

Household 
vehicles 

0 
                                    
1,615  

                                    
1,403  

                                    
1,291  

                                    
1,496  

                                    
1,849  

                                    
1,989  

1 
                                    
2,144  

                                    
2,301  

                                    
2,340  

                                    
2,302  

                                    
2,346  

                                    
2,524  

Daily person-trips per household (annual divided by 365) 

Household 
vehicles 

0 4.4 3.8 3.5 4.1 5.1 5.5 

1 5.9 6.3 6.4 6.3 6.4 6.9 

Daily mobility gap (difference in daily person-trips between 0- and 1-vehicle households) 

 1.4 2.5 2.9 2.2 1.4 1.5 
*Source: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, 2017 National Household Transportation Survey. 

 
The next step is to apply these mobility gap estimates to the number of zero-car households in each 
county. In the table below, the number of zero-car households in each county is multiplied first by the daily 
mobility gap and then by 365 days. The 2019 PTAC report multiplied the daily need by 300 to account for 
reduced travel on weekends. For the current calculation, these reduced travel days are already reflected 
in the annual person-trips reported in the 2017 NHTS, so multiplying by 300 would result in an 
undercount. 
 

Need calculation 

 County Households* 
Zero-car 

households* Daily mobility gap 
Annual need 

(trips) 

Androscoggin 45,825 4,130 2.5              3,768,625  

Aroostook 29,237 2,510 1.4              1,282,610  

Cumberland 128,184 8,988 2.2              7,217,364  

Franklin 12,276 1,126 1.4                  575,386  

Hancock 24,660 1,374 1.4                  702,114  

Kennebec 53,452 3,926 1.4              2,006,186  

Knox 17,780 1,028 1.4                  525,308  

Lincoln 15,848 850 1.4                  434,350  

Oxford 23,183 1,300 1.4                  664,300  



 21 

 
  

 
 

Penobscot 63,687 5,200 2.5              4,745,000  

Piscataquis 7,654 470 1.4                  240,170  

Sagadahoc 16,060 939 2.2                  754,017  

Somerset 22,074 1,378 1.4                  704,158  

Waldo 17,263 1,000 1.4                  511,000  

Washington 13,585 1,012 1.4                  517,132  

York 89,404 4,636 2.2              3,722,708  

Total                 28,370,428  
*Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2018-2022 five-year average 

 
The table above suggests that the total trips needed by Maine’s zero-car households is over 28 million. 
This is likely an underestimate of total need because many other households would likely benefit from and 
utilize public transportation. These include households where the number of workers exceeds the number 
of vehicles, low-income households that would prefer a less expensive alternative to vehicles, older 
residents, and people with mobility limitations.  
 
The total trip-need calculated in the 2019 PTAC report was 36,785,091, about 30% higher. This may be 
because the mobility gaps used in the 2019 calculation were higher: 1.7 for “rural areas” and 5.2 for 
“urban areas”. Neither the author nor NHTS staff were able to verify or replicate these figures using 2009 
survey data. NHTS staff noted that the 2009 NHTS survey results were revised once after their initial 
release. Therefore, it is possible the mobility gaps used in 2019 were calculated using unrevised data that 
is no longer available. 
 
The table below shows the number of unlinked trips provided by Maine’s public transit providers in 2022 
as reported in the National Transit Database (NTD). It does not include ferry services, in keeping with the 
methodology of the 2019 PTAC report. Nor does it include the Amtrak Downeaster train.  
 

Trips provided 

Provider Unlinked trips (2022) 

Aroostook Regional Transportation Systems, Inc. 46,767 

Biddeford-Saco-Old Orchard Beach Transit 171,828 

City of Bangor 404,263 

City of Bath 10,525 

Downeast Community Partners, Inc. 32,934 

Downeast Transportation, Inc. 326,246 

Greater Portland Transit District  1,260,110 

Houlton Band of Maliseet Indians 270 

Kennebec Valley Community Action Program 118,518 

Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee 207,779 

Penquis Community Action Program 238,379 

Regional Transportation Program, Inc. 48,929 

City of South Portland 150,653 

Waldo Community Action Partners 44,561 

West's Transportation, Inc. 4,719 



 22 

 
  

 
 

Western Maine Transportation Services, Inc. 123,829 

York County Community Action Corporation 61,393 

Total 3,251,703 
Source: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration, National Transit Database, 
2022 agency profiles. 

 
The 3.3 million trips provided by Maine transit providers in 2022 correspond to about 11% of estimated trip 
need. The TRB notes that levels of need calculated with this methodology generally exceed the number of 
trips observed in rural transportation systems.35 Many trips are either not taken or fulfilled by rides from 
family or friends. The TRB advises planners to set a percentage target of need to be met: “In the testing of 
these suggested methodologies with a number of rural transit agencies, it was found that, at best, only 
about 20% of the mobility gap trip-based need was met.”36 The table below shows a hypothetical target of 
20%, equivalent to 5.7 million trips. The remaining unmet need is 2.4 million trips. This is equivalent to 
increasing the capacity of the current system by about 75%.  
 

 
 
 

100% of trip need 
(2018-2022) 

20% of trip need 
(2018-2022) Trips provided (2022) Trip gap (2022) 

Percent of need being 
met by current trips 

28,370,428 5,674,086 3,251,703 2,422,383 11% 

Source: Author’s calculations based on TRB methodology and data from the NHTS, ACS, and NTD. 



 23 

 
  

 
 

ENDNOTES 
 

1 Clark, Hugh M (CJI Research Corporation), “Who Rides Public Transportation?” American Public Transportation Association, 
January 2017. 

2 U.S. Census Bureau, “American Community Survey and Puerto Rico Community Survey: 2023 Subject Definitions,” 2023. 

3 U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), “Why We Ask Questions About… Vehicles Available,” accessed 22 
October 2024. 

4 Transportation Research Board (TRB), Transit Cooperative Research Program Report 16, “Methods for Forecasting Demand and 
Quantifying Need for Rural Passenger Transportation: Final Workbook,” 2013. 

5 U.S. Census Bureau, Household Pulse Survey, Cycles 08 and 09, 24 September 2024. 

6 Ibid. 

7 Hemez, Paul, and Chanell Washington, “How Many Young and Older Adults Lived Alone?” U.S. Census Bureau, 30 May 2024. 

8 Clark, 2017. 

9 Ibid. 

10 U.S. Census Bureau, Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates, “State and County Estimates for 2022,” December 2023. 

11 U.S. Census Bureau, Household Pulse Survey, Cycle 09, 24 September 2024. 

12 Maine Community Action Partnership, “2021 Statewide Community Needs Assessment: Executive Summary,” December 2021. 

13 Ibid, pp 10. 

14 Butler, Sandra, and Luisa Deprez, “Post-Secondary Support for Parents with Low Incomes in Maine: Charting Success, Bridging 
Gaps, and Illuminating Pathways for Economic Mobility,” Maine Equal Justice Partners, February 2024. 

15 Ibid, pp 50. 

16 TRB, 2013, pp 22. 

17 ACS, “Why We Ask Each Question” access 27 October 2024. 

18 State of Maine, Department of Administrative and Financial Services (DAFS), Office of the State Economist, “Maine State and 
County Population Projects 2040,” April 2023. 

19 DAFS, 2023. 

20 ACS.  

21 U.S. Census Bureau, “State Population Totals and Components of Change: 2020-2023,” December 2023.  

22 National Council of State Legislatures, “States Offering Driver’s Licenses to Immigrants,” 13 March 2023. 

23 Passel, Jeffery S, and Jen Manuel Krogstad, “What We Know About Unauthorized Immigrants Living in the U.S.” Pew Research 
Center, 22 July 2024. 

24 U.S. Department of Agriculture, Census of Agriculture, 2022.  

25 JBS International and U.S. Department of Labor, “Findings from the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS) 2021–2022: A 
Demographic and Employment Profile of United States Crop Workers,” September 2023.  

26 Ibid. 

27 Gibson, Caitlin, “Why Aren’t Teenagers Driving Anymore?” Washington Post, 21 February 2023. 

28 United for ALICE, “Maine ALICE Households Budgets 2022” accessed 12 October 2024. 

29 United for ALICE, “ALICE Research Methodology: Overview and Rationale,” January 2024. 

30 Ibid. 

31 Living Wage Institute, “Living Wage Benchmark Series: 2024 Technical Documentation,” February 2024. 

32 TRB, 2013. 



 24 

 
  

 
 

 

33 TRB, 2013, and Maine Department of Transportation, Public Transit Advisory Council, “Biennial Report to Governor and 
Legislature,” April 2019. 

34 TRB, 2013, pp 13. 

35 TRB, 2013. 

36 TRB, 2013, pp 17. 



A REPORT FROM THE 

HOW TRANSPORTATION BARRIERS ARE HURTING 
MAINE AND HOW WE MOVE FORWARD

YouTry to Imagine it’s

Appendix C



About this Report: 

This report was made possible by the Maine Health Access Foundation and a generous supporter. The document was 
written by Zoe Miller, MPH, Executive Director, Moving Maine Network. Photographs are courtesy of Tom Bell, Kathryn 
Violette, Zoe Miller, and the National Aging and Disability Transportation Center photo archive. Graphic Design is by 
Polychrome Collective. Transportation Security Index survey analysis was conducted by Abraham Dailey. This report is 
available online at movingmaine.org. To request translations, printed copies, or a large print version, please contact 
Moving Maine Network at info@movingmaine.org.

Unless otherwise noted, data is from the 2024 Moving Maine Network Transportation Security Index Survey. 
Other sources are noted below.

• Vehicle ownership: U.S. Census – American Community Survey 2023 5-year estimates
• Household income spent on transportation: U.S. Deparment of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics 
• Cost of vehicle ownership: AAA 
• Travel distance to primary care: Maine Shared Health Needs Assessment

About the Moving Maine Network: 

The Moving Maine Network is a statewide coalition powered by individuals, organizations, and communities. 
We prioritize participation by people with lived expertise around transportation barriers. We offer a forum for learning, 
connection, and action that is open to everyone who cares about better transportation access for Maine.



3

QUALITY AFFORDABLE RIDES ROBUST POLICIES & PRACTICESSAFE STREETS & ROADS

Moving Maine Network works to:

1
Increase the quality and availability of public and community transportation – We work to 
connect people to all the places they need and want to go, using the services that work best for 
their geography and needs.

2
Ensure that traveling outside of a motor vehicle is safe and convenient - We work to make 
Maine’s streets and roads great places for people who are walking, wheeling, cycling, or using 
other mobility devices.

3
Advance policies and practices that improve mobility for the most people possible - We center 
the unique needs of nondrivers in addressing affordability and accessibility at the local, regional, 
and state level.

W E  D OWHAT

W E ADVANCE



4

INTRODUCTION

Transportation plays a central role in so many aspects of 
our lives. Dependable rides and safe routes to walk and 
wheel make it possible to get to work, see a doctor, pick 
up groceries and prescriptions, visit family and friends, 
and gather for community events.

However, many families and individuals in Maine lack 
safe, affordable, and reliable transportation. As a result, 
people are missing out on jobs and training, going 
without medical care and food, and missing social 
connections because they lack safe, affordable, and 
appropriate transportation.

In the past, data has not been available to tell us how 
many Mainers are experiencing transportation barriers 
and how it is impacting their health and quality of life. 
The difficulty measuring this problem has contributed 
to it being minimized and overlooked. 

In 2024, the Moving Maine Network set out to address 
the gap in knowledge by collecting qualitative and 
quantitative data. Our goal is to educate decision-makers 
and the public about how transportation barriers are 
affecting Maine’s economy and holding back prosperity. 

This report summarizes what we learned through fielding 
a statistically significant survey using the Transportation 
Security Index, conducting a data scan of national and 
state sources, and  leading our story collection campaign. 
This is the first time ever that statewide data has been 
collected in Maine using the full Transportation Security 
Index.



Transportation insecurity is defined as “the condition in 
which people face material, systemic, and relational issues 
that contribute to their inability to access needed services 
or destinations comfortably, conveniently, and affordably.” 
Symptoms of transportation insecurity include missing 
healthcare appointments or access to food; experiencing 
stress and uncertainty about how one will get places; 
taking a long time to plan out everyday trips; and limiting 
social outings because of not wanting to ask friends and 
family for additional rides. 

5

What does it mean 
to be transportation 
insecure?

ADMINISTERING THE TRANSPORTATION 
SECURITY INDEX SURVEY IN MAINE
In Fall 2024, the Moving Maine Network 
worked with market research specialist 
Ipsos to field a survey of people across 
Maine. Our goal was to identify the 
prevalence of transportation insecurity in 
Maine and to reveal differences based on 
rural location, income, disability, age, and 
health status. We gathered nearly 700 
responses. Ipsos uses the KnowledgePanel, 
the largest online panel that is 
representative of the adult US population. 
This means results can be applied to the 
general population of Maine.

ABOUT THE TRANSPORATION 
SECURITY INDEX

Developed by researchers from 
the University of Michigan, the 
Transportation Security (TSI) is the 
first validated tool that offers insights 
into how transportation insecurity 
impacts quality of life. Modeled after 
the Food Security Index, the TSI is 
a 16-question survey composed of 
items that focus on the symptoms 
of transportation insecurity. These 
include taking a long time to plan 
out everyday trips and rescheduling 
appointments. The TSI offers insights 
into who experiences transportation 
insecurity and enables researchers 
and practitioners to determine both 
the causes and consequences of 
transportation insecurity as well 
as identify which interventions can 
improve this condition.



6

Who experiences 
transportation insecurity?

adults in Maine experience 
transportation insecurity

3 5in

DATA



7

MORE LIKELY TO BE YOUNG ADULTS

70%
of Mainers with mobility disability

 experience transportation insecurity

87%
of blind Mainers

MORE LIKELY TO HAVE
A DISABILITY

89%
 of adults ages 18-24 

experience transportation 
insecurity

MAINERS WHO EXPERIENCE 
TRANSPORTATION INSECURITY ARE …

MORE LIKELY TO BE EXPERIENCING POVERTY

90%
of Black Mainers

MORE LIKELY TO BE BLACK

 experience transportation 
insecurity

70%
are living in poverty



MAINERS WHO EXPERIENCE TRANSPORTATION INSECURITY ARE MORE 
LIKELY TO BE STUCK AT HOME AND/OR TO FEEL LEFT OUT. 

MAINERS WHO EXPERIENCE TRANSPORTATION INSECURITY ARE MORE LIKELY TO EXPERIENCE POOR HEALTH

Because of a problem with transportation...

Among Mainers who experience transportation insecurity...

8

How Transportation Barriers 
are Hurting Maine

SOCIAL ISOLATION

NEGATIVE HEALTH OUTCOMES

8.5%
OF OLDER ADULT 

HOUSEHOLDS

12%
often feel stuck 

at home

40,000
Households

MAINE HOUSEHOLDS 
WITHOUT A VEHICLE

10%
often are not able 
to leave the house

8%
often have to reschedule an 
appointment because of a 

problem with transportation

80%
experience 
poor health

20% of Mainers live in areas where they need to travel

30 miles  or more to be seen by a primary care provider



MAINERS WHO EXPERIENCE TRANSPORTATION INSECURITY ARE MORE LIKELY 
TO BE UNEMPLOYED AND LESS LIKELY TO OWN A HOME.

Across incomes, transportation spending accounts for a third or more of family budgets

Among Mainers who experience transportation insecurity...

COST OF VEHICLE OWNERSHIP...

LACK OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY

54%
are not working

$12,297%
PER YEAR AVERAGE COST OF 

OWNERSHIP IN 2024

30%
INCREASE FROM 2020 

($9,561)

28%
 OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME 

ON TRANSPORATION

MAINE HOUSEHOLDS WITH 2 PARENTS 
AND 2 CHILDREN SPENT AN AVERAGE OF

33%
IN WASHINGTON

36%
IN PISCATAQUIS

AND

IN MAINE’S MOST RURAL COUNTIES, 
AVERAGE SPENDING IS EVEN HIGHER:

80%
are renters



10

Without any access to a car nor public transportation 
connecting Norway, ME with the rest of the county, 
state, country, and the world, I feel like my life quality is 
diminished, especially in the winter where I have almost 
no way of going anywhere. If I need to go to the doctor, 
I rely on someone else that can give me a ride. We need 
public transporation in Oxford County, urgently!

I am an elderly man who relies on my daughter in law who 
is struggling with scheduling work and my appointments. 
I am almost blind and deaf with no cell. I have had Lynx 
show up many times but since I am almost blind I didn’t 
know they were there and lost my ride.

04268

04401

In July 2024, MMN began collecting stories from people across Maine. We invited people to submit stories through 
our website, by email, text, and during virtual forums hosted in October 2024. We asked people: “Do you have a 
story about how transportation challenges are affecting your life?” This could be feeling unsafe wheeling or walking, 
struggling to get rides or car repairs, or facing problems with the transportation services they use. We collected over 
200 stories. The following are a sampling of stories from across the state.

STORIES



11

We are lucky enough to be close to our kids school, 
but the only road to the school is super narrow with a 
sidewalk *right* next to the road, with bus and car traffic 
inches away going both directions. I would love to be 
able to bike with the kids or take a scooter down, but 
it just doesn’t feel safe.

I am a visually impaired individual who uses a white 
cane. I live in an area where access to transportation 
is extremely limited and that which is available is very 
costly to individuals living on disability. The lack of 
available and affordable transportation for individuals 
such as myself is disheartening. It makes getting to 
appointments, seeking medical attention when needed, 
being social, getting basic needs or wants met, or work 
opportunities extremely difficult. The impact goes 
beyond the immediate need individuals are trying to 
achieve; it affects autonomy, creates anxiety, stress, 
and depression.

04011
04364



12

I realized soon after [my father] was diagnosed with 
cancer that my mom was transporting him to doctors 
appointments and it was about 55 miles each way from 
their house to Presque Isle. She had to take time off 
and then to travel as far as they did in the winter time, 
they would have to leave early because the roads were 
horrible. So I began to realize that when somebody has 
cancer it’s not just impacting them it’s their entire family 
and friends. They’re all impacted in the sense that we 
need to stick together.

There are no public transportation options in the 
area. Many of our [Massabesic Adult and Community 
Education] students are trying to get their high school 
equivalency in order to get a better job and become 
more financially stable, and many do not currently have 
their own transportation. I am looking for ways to 
combat this barrier to education.

04087

04268

STORIES



13

I live in rural Somerset county. Our transportation 
options are either too expensive or nonexistent. 
I currently have a 14-year-old car and the cost of 
repairs are very hard for me. It’s starting to become 
impossible for me to keep a car on the road and 
that’s deeply concerning. 

As a young, university student I rely on my mother’s 
support for transportation. I use her car to get to work, 
to socialize, and to get basic necessities. It is ridiculous 
that if I did not have her support, I would need to come 
up with at least $6,000 just to get a vehicle to get to 
work or school. How can rural youth build any type of 
wealth or savings without some kind of generational 
wealth or going into debt? This is indicative to me that 
the car-centric infrastructure is yet another mechanism 
of our environment that keeps the poor, poor.

04606
04912



14

Ongoing Support for Community-Based Solutions
Community-based solutions – like mutual aid and volunteer drivers – are playing a critical role and yet lack adequate 
funding and capacity. Maine’s community organizations are best positioned to solve community problems. They just 
need more support to sustain and grow.

Easily Accessible Mobility Information & Support
Information about transportation services and supports (including financial) is not readily available and apparent, let 
alone interconnected. People want it to be easier and more streamlined to access information on the services and 
supports that are available and many people want to connect with a human being who can listen and guide them.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
 A streamlined and user-friendly trip planner and information portal developed using universal design principles
 Increased availability of Mobility Navigators across the state

CONCLUSION

How We Advance 
Transportation Access 
in Maine.
In 2024, the Moving Maine Network listened to more than 600 
Mainers through virtual forums, our in-person summit, and 
stories submitted to our website and by email. We analyzed 
what we heard into the themes and recommendations below. 
These will guide our work in the years ahead.

RECOMMENDATION:
 Mobility Management programs to help strengthen efficiency, accessibility, and sustainability of transportation in 
regions across the state



15

Safer Walking & Wheeling
When it comes to walking and wheeling, safety is the top concern and a major deterrent barrier to walking and 
wheeling. Too many streets and roads lack accessible and user-friendly facilities for people to travel outside of motor 
vehicles.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
 A larger investment in safe and complete streets for Maine
 Advancing ADA accessible infrastructure across the state

More and Better Public and Community Transportation
Throughout rural, suburban, and urban parts of the state, people who cannot drive or struggle to afford a personal 
vehicle are desperate for rides. Better quality medical rides are especially a concern for people who depend on 
MaineCare (Medicaid) transportation services. There are also many Mainers who are ineligible for MaineCare and lack 
affordable - or any - transportation options.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
 A larger investment in public and community transportation for Maine
 Improved quality and accountability for MaineCare Transportation

Cross-Sector Coordination
Transportation is not well integrated or coordinated with other sectors - like housing, health care, and workforce 
development. People are frustrated by having to interface with many different providers and agencies to get and pay 
for rides for different purposes. The ability to “braid” transportation funding from private, state, and federal sources 
results in more options overall and leads to a more efficient and cost-effective system. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:
 Greater access to mobility navigation supports for people across the state
 Stronger coordination between organizations that fund transportation – especially at the state level

A Real Voice in Transportation Decisions 
People who use transportation services have experience and expertise that is often not being factored into planning 
and decision-making. Many people feel confused about where and how to provide feedback and complaints – and 
frustrated at a sense that input doesn’t matter.

RECOMMENDATION:
 Transparent and inclusive transportation decision-making





State Funding Sources for Transit 

Revenue Type Number of States States 

State Gas Tax 25 

CA, CT, DE, FL, IL, KS, LA, MD, MA, 
MI, MT, NE, NM, NY, NC, OK, OR, RI, 
SC, SD, TN, TX, VT, VA, WI 

State General Sales Tax 19 

CA, CT, GA, ID, IL, IN, KS, KY, MD, 
MA, MO, NE, NY, OH, PA, RI, UT, 
VA, WV 

State Vehicle Registration 
and Title Fees 

19  

CO, CT, DE, FL, IA, KS, MD, MA, MI, 
NM, NY, NC, ND, OR, TX, VT, VA, 
WA, WI 

State Vehicle Sales Tax 14  
CT, KS, MA, MI, MN, MO, NE, NM, 
ND, PA, VT, VA, WA, WI 

State Bond Proceeds 9 CO, CT, IL, ME, MA, NH, PA, RI, VA 
State Interest Income 8 AZ, CT, GA, MI, PA, VA, WV, WY 
State Individual income Tax 8 GA, IN, MN, MS, NY, OH, OK, WV 
State Rental Vehicle Fees and 
Taxes 

7 AR, ME, MT, NY, PA, VA, WA 

State Retail Sales Tax 6 IL, MN, MS, MO, VA, WV 
State Permit Fees 5 CT, KS, KY, NM, WA 
State Corporate Income Tax 5 GA, MD, MN, NY, WV 
State Property Tax 4 ID, IN, MN, WV 
Transportation Development 
Credits 

4 IL, MA, OH, WA 

State Lottery Proceeds 3 AZ, PA, RI 
Source: American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Survey of State 
Funding for Public Transportation – Final Report 2024, Based on FY 2022 Data 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix D



 

Local Funding Sources for Transit 

Revenue Type Number of States States 

Fare Revenue 46 

AK, AZ, AR, CA, CO, CT, DE, DC, FL, 
GA, HI, ID, IL, IN, IA, KS, KY, LA, ME, 
MD, MA, MI, MN, MS, MO, MT, NE, 
NV, NH, NJ, NM, NY, OH, OK, OR, PA, 
SC, SD, TN, TX, UT, VA, WA, WV, WI, 
WY 

City/County General Funds 42 

AK, AZ, AR, CO, DC, FL, GA, HI, ID, IL, 
IN, IA, KS, LA, ME, MA, MI, MN, MS, 
MO, MT, NV, NH, NM, NY, NC, ND, 
OH, OK, OR, PA, SC, SD, TN, TX, UT, 
VT, VA, WA, WV, WI, WY 

Advertising 38 

AL, AK, AZ, CO, CT, DE, DC, FL, HI, ID, 
IL, IN, IA, KS, KY, LA, ME, MA, MI, 
MN, MO, MT, NH, NJ, NY, NC, ND, 
OH, OK, OR, PA, SC, SD, TX, VA, WV, 
WI, WY 

Service Contracts 35  

AL, AK, AZ, CO, FL, HI, ID, IL, IN, IA, 
KS, KY, LA, ME, MI, MN, MS, MO, MT, 
NE, NH, NJ, NM, NY, NC, ND, OH, OK, 
OR, SC, SD, TN, TX, VA, WV 

Donations 30 

AL, AK, AZ, AR, CO, FL, HI, ID, IL, IN, 
KS, KY, ME, MI, MO, MT, NV, NH, NY, 
NC, ND, OH, OK, OR, SC, SD, TX, UT, 
VT, WY 

Local Property Tax 25  

AK, CA, CO, FL, IL, IN, IA, KY, ME, MI, 
MN, MT, NE, NH, NY, NC, OH, OR, SC, 
SD, TN, TX, VT, VA, W 

Local Sales Tax 21 

AK, AZ, CA, CO, FL, GA, IL, LA, MN, 
MO, NM, NY, NC, OH, OK, SC, SD, TX, 
UT, VA, WA 

Local Vehicle Registration 
Fees 

10 FL, HI, IA, MI, NH, NC, SC, VT, VA, WI 

Local Gas Tax 7 FL, GA, HI, NV, UT, VT, VA 
Local Income Tax 6 CO, OH, OK, OR, UT, WI 
Local Rental Vehicle Fees 4 MT, NY, NC, VA 

Source: American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Survey of State 
Funding for Public Transportation – Final Report 2024, Based on FY 2022 Data 
 



 
 

State Funding Distribution Methods  

Distribution Method Number of States States 

Formula Based Method 35 

AR, CA, CO, DE, FL, GA, ID, 
IL, IN, IA, KS, LA, ME, MD, 
MA, MI, MN, MO, MT, NY, 
NC, ND, OH, OK, OR, PA, RI, 
SC, SD, TN, TX, VA, WA, 
WV, WI 

Discretionary Based Method 29 

AZ, CA, CO, DC, FL, IL, IA, 
KS, KY, ME, MD, MA, MI, 
NE, NJ, NM, NC, OH, OR, 
PA SD, TN, TX, UT, VT, VA, 
WA, WV, WY 

Legislative Earmark or 
Directive 

18 

AK, AZ, CA, CT, DE, IL, IN, 
MA, MN, MT, NY, NC, OH, 
PA, RI, UT, VA, WA 

Historical Allocation Method 2 AK, MS 

Other Methods 8 
GA, ME, MI, MS, NH, OR, 
PA, VA 

Source: American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Survey of State 
Funding for Public Transportation – Final Report 2024, Based on FY 2022 Data 
 



Appendix E 
 

Potential Revenue Sources for Public Transportation 
 
The strategies below are presented for consideration by the legislature based on research into solutions 
other peer states have identified to close transit funding gaps.  
 
Strategy A: The fuel tax is the predominant source of revenue in Maine’s Highway Fund currently, 
totaling $438.9 million (42.6%). Fuel tax revenue projections in other states have consistently shown 
serious decline. The Tax Foundation, a center-right think tank, projects a more than half decline in real 
fuel tax revenues over the next 20 years, and by two-thirds by 2050. This poses a significant fiscal risk to 
the state if it does not adopt alternative sources of revenue to diversify the Highway Fund portfolio and 
moreover substitute the obsolete fuel tax.  
 
There are several options to supplement declining gas tax revenues, including indexing the gas tax to 
inflation, implementing a mileage-based user fee, implementing a weight-based user fee, or a tire tax. 
Several of these options were considered in the 2020 Blue Ribbon Commission study to recommend 
funding solutions for the transportation system, but none have since been implemented. It would be 
within the best interest of the state to start exploring new options, such as through a pilot program.  
 
Alternatively, the state could revamp its income tax structure and direct a portion of the proceeds to go 
towards the Highway Fund. In this case, a 4% surtax on incomes in excess of $1,000,000 could be a 
viable option. According to the Maine Center for Economic Policy, a millionaire’s tax would generate 
roughly $108 million annually. It would have little impact on working Mainers, and be less of an 
administrative burden than implementing user fees. Massachusetts implemented a 4% surcharge on 
taxable income above $1,000,000, and the tax generated over $2 billion last year, including over $500 
million for transportation funding while impacting less than 0.6% of the state’s residents. 
 
However, these general Highway Fund revenue solutions must have statutory guarantees of supporting 
transit operations. An effective method to ensure state commitment to such funding would be a 
statutory minimum transfer (SMT). Colorado implemented a 10% SMT for transit expenditures under SB 
09-228, which took effect for a 5-year period contingent on certain increases in income. Colorado 
required a minimum 10% of all funds appropriated to the Department of Transportation, including bond 
financing, to be dedicated towards transit purposes. This led to historic capital and operating 
investments, expanding bus and rail operations across the state. A 10% SMT for transit in Maine would 
guarantee sustainable funding for critical services with hopes of expanding in the future to 
accommodate a constantly evolving workforce.  
 

Strategy B: Alternatively, the Legislature could pursue  introducing several minor sources of revenue, 
which would be statutorily directed to the Multimodal Fund. It would also be beneficial to impose a SMT 
for Multimodal Fund transfers as well. The legislature should consider the following courses of action:  
● Increase fees on rental cars. Maine currently has a rental vehicle excise tax, which generates 

funding for the Multimodal Fund. Currently, seven states across the country also have a rental 
vehicle fee of some sort. Maine could levy an additional $3 per day for car leases less than 30 days 
(primarily targeting tourists). Colorado recently passed a $3 rental car fee, which will generate 
approximately $60 million for their state. 

https://www.maine.gov/budget/sites/maine.gov.budget/files/inline-files/Governors%202026-2027%20Biennial%20Budget%20Overview.pdf
https://taxfoundation.org/blog/state-vmt-vehicle-miles-traveled-taxes/
https://taxfoundation.org/blog/state-vmt-vehicle-miles-traveled-taxes/
https://www.mass.gov/news/4-surtax-on-taxable-income-over-1000000-the-basics
https://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/14-19sb09-228transfersissuebrief.pdf
https://pirg.org/colorado/articles/2024-the-year-of-transit-in-colorado/


● Levy a ride share tax. Five states have implemented a ride share tax, with three types of taxation: 
local options (Maryland), a percentage on revenue (Rhode Island, Pennsylvania, South Carolina), and 
fee per ride (Massachusetts). These taxes usually range from 1% to 7%.  

● Establishing a retail e-delivery fee. States have considered e-delivery fees between $0.28 and $0.50 
per transaction, which have potential to generate tens of millions in revenue. States have 
commonly restricted this fee to certain e-delivery activities. 

● Increase the vacation rental tax. An additional cent on the current 9% tax could be dedicated 
towards the Multimodal Fund.  

● Flex more federal highway funding toward transit. Maine directs less than 2% of Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) funding to transit projects, but other states such as Vermont flex up to 8% of 
FHWA funding toward transit.  

● Utilize toll credits to cover state and local match for federally funded transit projects. Federal law 
permits States with toll facilities to earn credits that can be applied towards the non-Federal share 
requirement on Federal-aid projects. At the end of FY23, Maine’s toll credit balance was reported at 
$571,775,798. 

● Levy a surtax on second homes, and earmark revenue towards transit-related expenditures. 
Maine has one of the highest percentages of second homes in the country. A tax on second homes 
would not negatively affect working Mainers and would increase available dollars for public services 
such as transit. 

● Permit municipalities to have a local option sales tax to finance transportation-related needs. 
● Flexible sales tax considerations.  Maine’s sales tax generates $2.2 billion annually and is the second 

largest source of state revenue.   
○ Permit municipalities to have a local option sales tax to finance transportation-related 

needs.  Maine does not currently have a local option sales tax. 
○ Consider a seasonal sales tax, a proportion of which could be used to finance transportation-

related needs.  Maine legislators have considered a seasonal sales tax in the past to 
maximize the benefit of summer tourism dollars. 

 

If these potential revenue streams were dedicated towards the Multimodal Fund, it would be prudent to 
place a SMT for transit operating expenditures to ensure sufficient funding levels.  
 
Strategy C: Lastly, minor sources of revenue could be earmarked for transit operating expenditures, 
similar to that of Maine’s rental vehicle excise tax. Potential sources of revenue outlined in Strategy B 
could also be applicable to this strategy but could generate a smaller amount since it is not intended to 
shore up gaps in the Multimodal Fund or Highway Fund.  
 

https://www.accuratetax.com/blog/exploring-taxability-uber-lyft/
https://washingtonstatestandard.com/2024/06/19/to-help-fund-roads-wa-lawmakers-eye-fee-on-delivery-of-online-purchases/
https://transitcenter.org/want-to-use-highway-dollars-for-transit-these-places-already-do/
https://transitcenter.org/want-to-use-highway-dollars-for-transit-these-places-already-do/
https://legislature.maine.gov/doc/9119#:~:text=Page%202-,MaineHousing,Vacant%20Units%20in%20Maine


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F



  

 

 

 

 

 



 

ADVOCACY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 6 
 

 

 
DATE  
March 24, 2025 

 
SUBJECT 
Committee Goal Setting 
 
PURPOSE 
Committee will review Metro’s strategic plan and most recent goals. Committee will discuss a 
strategy to revise goals to inform committee’s workplan. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
Metro’s Mission, Vision and Values statements were approved in 2023. The next step in updating 
Metro’s Strategic Plan is to add goals that support the Mission, Vision and Values. Each of Metro’s 
committees has been tasked with identifying key goals related to the committee’s charge to be 
incorporated into the strategic plan.  
 
During the Advocacy Committee’s February meeting there was discussion around three initial 
goals for the committee: 
 

1. Monitoring proposed legislation and advising on approaches for advocate for bills that are 
supportive of public transit. 

2. Development of outreach campaigns that seek to build financial support for Metro. 
3. Shape the public image of Metro in a way that recognizes Metro as an essential public service. 

 
The committee may choose to update previous priorities and goals or create new goals and 
priorities. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Committee continue to refine and prioritize its primary goals. 
 
CONTACT 
Glenn Fenton 
Executive Director 
207-517-3025 
gfenton@gpmetro.org 
 

 

mailto:gfenton@gpmetro.org

	Metro Advocacy Committee Agenda 03-24-2025
	Advocacy Committee Meeting Notes Draft 2-27-2027
	Item 4 - Legislative Update
	MTA Client Report 3-7-25
	Maine Transit Association

	Item 5 - PTAC
	PTAC Biennial Report to Legislature Feb 2025
	27dbe91d479f78518a5ec59afc05ea49e351e9547a57184fcb440c3bd7fbf824.pdf

	Item 6 - Committee Goals

